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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009
Commission file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
DELAWARE 98-0181725
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
Innospec Manufacturing Park
Oil Sites Road
Ellesmere Port
Cheshire
United Kingdom CH65 4EY
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: 011-44-151-355-3611
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefAct:

Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which registered
N/A N/A
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Act:  Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes

No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes

No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes X

No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).
Yes

No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [1]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of
“large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fil

Accelerated file X

Non-accelerated file

Smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes

No X

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the most recently completed second fiscal quarter (June
30, 2009) was approximately $138 million, based on the closing price of the common shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market on June 30, 2009. Shares of common stock held
by each officer and director and by each beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed
to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.
As of February 11, 2010, 23,664,053 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of Innospec Ir's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stod#téis to be held on May 12, 2010 are incorporateteference into Part I1l of this Form -K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING ST ATEMENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains certain “forward-looking&ments” within the meaning of the Private Semsikitigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than stegets of historical facts included or incorporatedein may
constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwlaaking statements include statements (covereddys like
“expects”, “anticipates”, “may”, “believes” or sitar words or expressions), for example, which eetatoperating
performance, events or developments that we expeantticipate will or may occur in the future (inding, without
limitation, any of the Company’s guidance in respdsales, gross margins, net income, growth piatesind other
measures of financial performance). Although fodvimoking statements are believed by managemdrs teasonable
when made, caution should be exercised not to pladae reliance on such statements because theylgext to
certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, dwetuin respect of the general business environjmegtilatory actions
or changes. If the risks or uncertainties matemadir assumptions prove incorrect or change, duabperformance or
results may differ materially from those expressednplied by such forward-looking statements assuanptions. You
are urged to carefully review and consider theioaaty statements and other disclosures made setfikings,
specifically those under the heading “Risk Factorsite Company undertakes no obligation to publigigate or revise
any forward-looking statements, whether as a reduiew information, future events or otherwise.
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PART |
ltem 1 Business

When we use the terms the “Corporation”, “Compariiegistrant”, “we”, “us”, and “our” unless otherse indicated
or the context otherwise requires, we are referanignnospec Inc. and its consolidated subsidigfiesmospec”).

General

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtedtadditives and other specialty chemicals. Qroducts are so
primarily to oil refineries and other chemical andustrial companies throughout the world. Our fagdlitives help
improve fuel efficiency, boost engine performannd eeduce harmful emissions. Our specialty chemigedvide
effective technology-based solutions for our cusishprocesses or products focused in the Per&aral, Household,
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredemarkets.

Our principal executive offices are in EllesmeretPdnited Kingdom. We became an independent compan
May 22, 1998, when we were spun off from our tharept corporation Chemtura Corporation, previokslgwn as
Great Lakes Chemical Corporation. We changed omerfaom Octel Corp. to Innospec Inc. on January2806. On
March 21, 2006 we transferred the listing of oumamon stock from the New York Stock Exchange (“NY $t'the
Nasdaq Stock Marke“NASDAQ”).

Segmental Informatior

Innospec divides its business into three distiegnsents for both management and reporting purpéses$:Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpies and Active Chemicals businesses both t@pémanarkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities althesir end customers are very different. The Octsahditives
business is characterized by substantial declidergand.

Fuel Specialties

Our Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthlends and markets a range of specialty chemioducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businessigfizes in supplying fuel additives that help noye fuel efficiency,
boost engine performance and reduce harmful emissiche business’ products are used in the efticparation of
automotive, marine and aviation engines, poweitstagenerators, and heating and diesel partictilste systems.

Historically, through to the end of 2004, the bess had grown through a program of acquisitiongeMecently
growth in the Fuel Specialties business has bagardby new product development to address whabelieve are the
key drivers in demand for fuel additives. These #8yers are legislation, population affluence, anérgy price and
availability. We have devoted substantial resoutodbe development of new and improved
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products that may be used to improve fuel efficgeccordingly in our Fuel Specialties segment 48%6ur sales in
2009 were derived from products developed duriegptfevious five years.

Active Chemicals

Our Active Chemicals business provides effectivht®logy-based solutions for our customers’ praegess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusriakstitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients markets

Historically the business has grown through a maogof acquisitions. This program has included tpussition of
Finetex, Inc. in January 2005, Innospec Widnes tath{previously known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Léajtin
August 2004, and Innospec Leuna GmbH in June Zbfddctive January 1, 2007 the businesses of Finétexand
ProChem Chemicals, Inc. were merged into Innospeivé Chemicals LLC (previously known as Innospec
Performance Chemicals U.S. Co.).

The focus for our Active Chemicals business isa@waliop high performance products from its technglogse in a
focused number of markets.

Octane Additives

Our Octane Additives business is the world’s onlyducer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”). The Octane Atdeks business
comprises sales of TEL for use in automotive gasadind trading in respect of our environmental #at®n busines:

TEL was first developed in 1928 and introduced ihi® European market for internal combustion ergytneéboost
octane levels in gasoline allowing it to burn meficiently and eliminating engine knock. It alsctfas a lubricity aid
reducing engine wear and preventing valve seasseme Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1f®Hl8wing the
enactment of the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1970 andilsimegislation in other countries. The trend oliotries exiting the
leaded gasoline market has resulted in an aveeag®f decline in volume terms in demand for TElthe last five
years of approximately 35% per annum. Sales oOittane Additives business are now concentratedetatively
small number of customers. Accordingly, volume tteckexperienced in any one financial period magieater or less
than this average rate of decline and remainingssalthis business may decline with unpredictablatility and
severity.

We intend to manage the decrease in the saleslofdriise in automotive gasoline to maximize thshctiow through
the decline. Continuous cost improvement measwaes heen, and will continue to be, taken to resgortclining
market demand.

Our environmental remediation business assist®est to manage the clean up of the associateddadtiplants as
refineries complete the move from leaded fuel.
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Strategy

Our strategy is to develop new and improved tedgiek to continue to strengthen and increase otkanhpositions
within our Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicalsibasses. In addition to the average organic revgnuwth of

11% per annum, and average operating income groindb% per annum, in these combined businesses 2bB@5, we
also actively continue to assess potential strateguisitions, partnerships and other opportuittiat would enhance
our customer offering. We focus on opportunitiest thould extend our technology base, geographmat@age or
product portfolio. We believe that focusing on Eheel Specialties and Active Chemicals sectors irckvbur
businesses operate provides the opportunity fatipeseturns on investment while lowering opergtirsk by investin
in markets where the Company has existing expegies@ertise and knowledge.

Working Capital

The nature of our custometsusinesses requires us to hold appropriate amotimsentory in order to respond quicl
to customersheeds. We therefore require corresponding amodintsiking capital for normal operation. However,
do not believe that this is materially differerarfr our competitors.

The decline in our sales of TEL for use in auton®tiasoline, and the purchase of large tranchesamaterials in
our Fuel Specialties business does create somiéicaau variation in working capital requiremeniait these are
planned and well managed by the business.

We do not believe that our terms of sale, or tesfsurchase, differ markedly from those of our ceutitprs.
Raw Materials and Product Supp

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsummanufacturing and blending processes and leethes/ sources of
these are adequate for our current operationsn@jor purchases are ethylene, sodium, lead, cetamber improvers
ethyl chloride, dibromoethane and various solvents.

These purchases account for a substantial portibredCompany’s variable manufacturing costs. Theaterials are,
with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readiilable from more than one source. Although ethglis, in theor
available from several sources, it is no longenpssible to transport ethylene by road in Germa#sya result, our
source is piped directly from a neighboring site] & therefore effectively a single source. Ethglés used as a
primary raw material in products representing appnately 5% of the Company’s sales.

We use long-term contracts (generally with fixedts@and escalation terms) to help ensure avatighiiontinuity of
supply and manage the risk of cost increases.dfoegaw materials the risk of cost increases isaged with
commodity swaps.
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The chemical industry, in general, is experiengame tightness in the supply of certain commodi#yemals. We
continue to monitor the situation and adjust owcprement strategies as we deem appropriate. Thp&uy forecasts
its raw material requirements substantially in abea and builds long-term relationships and coted@ositions with
supply partners to safeguard its raw material posst In addition, the Company operates an extenssk manageme
program which seeks to source all key raw matefiata multiple sources, and to develop other caygircy plans.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgreis and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strength, particularly in the Fuel Spées and Active Chemicals businesses. The Cosngdars not
however consider its business as a whole to bendepé¢ on any one trademark, patent or license.

The Company has a portfolio of trademarks and pstgnanted and in the application stage, covesnegucts and
processes in several jurisdictions. The majorittheke patents were developed by the Company abgcs to
maintenance obligations including the payment néveal fees, have at least ten years’ life remaining

The trademark Innospec and the Innospec devicéass€s 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classiiocabf Goods and
Services for the Purposes of the Registration afkislaare registered in all countries or jurisdicigan which the
Company has a significant market presence. The @oynalso has trademark registrations in all coastor
jurisdictions in which it has a significant marketsence for the following: Stac® (a range of conductivity improver:
Ortholeum® (a range of lubricant additives), Valvetea® (a range of anti valve seat recession addjtivegal Diesel
® (a range of diesel fuel additives), Sataen (aearigron-based organo-metallic fuel borne cataly€Enviome® (a
range of biodegradable chelating agents), Natrlqu@srange of biodegradable chelants for persaara)clselux™ (a
range of innovative, sulfate-free surfactants ferspnal care) and Finsdlv  (a range of benzoatesdstepersonal care
and cosmetic products).

We actively protect our inventions, new technolsgand product developments by filing patent aggilbnis and
maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigohpparticipate in patent opposition proceedinguacbthe world,
where necessary, to secure a technology baserémearifringement of our intellectual property.

Customers

Fuel SpecialtiesOur customers are multinational oil companies ared fetailers. Traditionally, a large portion oéth
total market was captive to oil companies that fo@dtl additives divisions providing supplies dirgdib their respective
refinery customers. Many refineries are increagimgbking to purchase their fuel additive requirernseon the open
market. This trend is creating new opportunitigsifidependent additive marketers such as ourselves.
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Active ChemicalsCustomers range from large multinational compaaresmanufacturers of personal care and
household products, to specialty chemical manufac$woperating in niche industries.

Octane AdditivesSales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline areerathcipally to the retail refinery market which
comprises state owned refineries focused in thedlMi&ast and Africa. Selling prices to major custesrare usually
negotiated under long-term supply agreements vétiiing prices and terms of payment. Our environ@lent
remediation business then serves these customerartage the clean up of the associated redundamtss refineries
complete the move away from leaded fuel.

In 2009 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), which accounted for $76.1 fioh (13%) of net group sales. In 2008 and 200&lIStccounted for
$84.6 million (13%) and $66.2 million (11%) of rggbup sales, respectively. The Company does na aay other
such significant customers which alone accountrfore than 5% of net group sales.

Competition

Fuel SpecialtiesThe Fuel Specialties market is fragmented and cheniaed by a small number of competitors in each
submarket. The competitors in each submarket difdr no one company holding a dominant positiore ¥énsider

our competitive strengths to be our proven techmieselopment capacity, independence from majocaihpanies and
strong long-term relationships with refinery custom

Active ChemicalsWe operate in three principal markets within Act@eemicals — Personal Care; Household,
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredenrhe Personal Care and Household, Industriadsgitutional
markets are both highly fragmented, and the Compapgriences substantial competition from a latgalver of
multinational and specialty chemical suppliersactegeographical region in which we operate. Tlagfance
Ingredients market is more concentrated, with aungpal competitors being Givaudan SA, Firmenintelnational St
and International Flavors & Fragrances Inc.. Ounpetitive position in all three markets is basedopplying a
superior, diverse product portfolio which solvestigalar customer problems or enhances the perfoceaf new or
existing products. In a number of Specialty Chetsiozarkets, we also supply niche product lines,re/hee enjoy
market-leading positions.

Octane AdditivesOur Octane Additives business is the world’s onlydoaicer of TEL and accordingly is the only
supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. Tusiness therefore competes with marketers ofystsdand
processes that provide alternative ways of enhgrmatane performance in automotive gasoline.

Research, Development, Testing and Technical Sup

Research, product/application development and teahsupport (“R&D”) provide the basis for the gritwof our Fuel
Specialties and Active Chemicals businesses. Aaugiyd the

7



Table of Contents

Company’s R&D activity has been, and will contirtoebe, focused on the development of new produuds a
formulations. Technical support is provided ford@llour business segments.

Our principal R&D facilities are located in EllesradPort, United Kingdom and Newark, Delaware. Exjiemes to
support R&D services to customers were $16.4 miJliil4.8 million, and $13.6 million in 2009, 20@&d 2007,
respectively.

We consider that our proven technical capabilityvdes us with a significant competitive advantdgehe last three
years, the Fuel Specialties business has develmpedietergent, cold flow, stabilizers, anti-fougntibricity and
combustion improver products, in addition to thiedduction of many new cost effective fuel additpackages. We a
now leveraging this proven technical capabilityhmtour Active Chemicals business.

Health, Safety and Environmental Mattei

We are subject to environmental laws in all of ¢bantries in which we conduct business. Manageieligves that tr
Company is in material compliance with all applieaénvironmental laws and has made appropriategoovfor the
continued costs of compliance with environmentaislaNevertheless, there can be no assurance tiages in existin
environmental laws, or the discovery of additidimbilities associated with our current or formgeaations, will not
have a material adverse effect on our businessltses operations or financial and competitiveipos.

The principal sites giving rise to environmentahealiation liabilities are the former Octane Addisvmanufacturing
sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and BielieshreGermany, together with the Ellesmere Po#d Bitthe United
Kingdom, which is the last ongoing manufacturefBL.. Remediation work is substantially complet®atmboeuf,
Doberitz and Biebesheim. At Ellesmere Port theeaesntinuing remediation program related to thosaufacturing
units that have been closed. We regularly revieaftiture costs of remediation and the current eders reflected in
Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarfsiatements

We record environmental liabilities relating to tieéirement of assets and environmental clean ugnvihey are
probable and costs can be estimated reasonablyirMalves anticipating the program of work and aissociated futu
costs, and so involves the exercise of judgmemhagagement.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in titeré that could result in additional compliancete@and prevent
inhibit the development, distribution and sale of products. The European Union (“EU”) has approaéditional
legislation known as the Registration, Evaluatiod Authorization of Chemical Substances Regulat{tREACH”)
which requires most of the Company’s products todggstered with the European Chemicals Agency.dditus
legislation the Company has to demonstrate tharaang safety of its products. During this regisitva period the
Company will incur expense to test and registepitglucts. The Company estimates that the costraptying with
REACH will be approximately $8 million over the nekto 4 years. While the Company expects that its

8



Table of Contents

products will be approved for registration aftestiteg it is possible that certain products maybetegistered if the test
data proves unsatisfactory. In such an outcome sdriiee Company’s products may be restricted ohibited in the
EU.

Employees
The Company has 790 employees as at December 34, 20
Available Information

We file with the Securities and Exchange Commis$i@&EC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1%&lamended
(the “Exchange Act”) our annual report on Form 10gKarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current repont$-orm 8-K,
and any amendments to those reports, proxy stateraed other documents. The public may read ang aop
materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’bIRUReference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washimgd.C. 20549.
The public may also obtain information on the operaof the Public Reference Room by calling theCS# 1-800-
SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an Intewebsite at www.sec.gdhat contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information tlegistrants, including the Company, file electrotycaith the SEC.

Our corporate website is www.innospecinc.coviie make available, free of charge, on or thraighwebsite our
annual, quarterly and current reports, and any dments to those reports, as soon as reasonablycpide after
electronically filing such material with, or furhigg it to, the SEC. In addition, Innospec’s CogierGovernance
Guidelines, Code of Ethics and Director Independestandards, and the written charters for the car@es of
Innospec’s Board of Directors are available on website under “Investor Relations — Corporate Goaece” and in
print upon request by writing to: Corporate Secasetlnnospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park,&s Road,
Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, United Kingdom, CH6E5 4EY.

None of the above available information forms @érhis filing on Form 1-K, unless specifically incorporated by
reference elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

ltem 1A Risk Factors

Our business is subject to many factors that condterially adversely affect our future performaaoce cause our
actual results to differ materially from those esx@eced or implied by forward-looking statementsdea this Annual
Report on Form 1@. Investing in our securities involves risks amd@dingly investors should carefully evaluate d
risks including the factors discussed below beftgeiding to invest in our securities. Except agothse indicated,
these factors may or may not occur and we canmaligirthe likelihood of any such factor occurri@her risk factors
may exist that we do not consider significant bamethformation that is currently available to rsaddition, new risk
may emerge at any time, and we cannot predict thslse or estimate the extent to which they magafour future
performance.
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We may have to pay substantial fines and penaliiege are fined by the U.S. or United Kingdom gomerents in
connection with their investigations regarding owctivities related to the United Nations Oil for Bd Program
(“OFFP”) and U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“lEPA”) matters.

As discussed in more detail in Item 3 of Part lg@ial Proceedings”), the Company is currently thgesai of
investigations by the U.S. and United Kingdom goweent authorities in connection with potential g&igdns under the
OFFP, the FCPA and other laws.

Because of the uncertainties associated with timaatle outcome of these investigations, and thesdoghe Company
of responding and participating in them, no asstgaran be given that the ultimate costs incurréidcerrespond to th
amounts accrued. In addition, sanctions that maypesed may have a material adverse impact oG tmepany’s
results of operations, financial position and ciémhs.

We may be required to make additional cash conttibuas to the defined benefit pension plan that weeoate in the
United Kingdom and recognize greater pension chasge

The Company operates a contributory defined bepefision plan (the “Plan”) in the United KingdonhelPlan is
closed to new entrants without trustee discretiorh has a large number of deferred and currentesis. A full
triennial actuarial valuation of the Plan was perfed as at December 31, 2008 and an update pedamat
December 31, 2009, the results of which are reftbat these consolidated financial statements. édeinber 31, 2009
the underlying plan asset value and Projected BeDbfigation (“PBO”) were $671.8 million and $7@6million,
respectively, resulting in a deficit of $124.2 naiti.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ B dependent on actual return on investmentpaydwards ¢
well as our assumptions in respect of the discoatet annual member mortality rates, future retur@mssets, future pi
escalation, future pension increases and futulatiof. A change in any one of these assumptionfldmpact the pla
asset value, PBO and pension cost recognized imt¢bene statement. Such changes could adversepcingor results
of operations and financial position.

The Company has announced closure of the Plartucefgervice accrual with effect from March 31, @@hd
accordingly we anticipate a curtailment chargepgraximately $10 million will be recognized in 2Q0Ithe Company
is in negotiations with the trustees to fund thenRleficit over a number of years, but currentlgexts its annual cash
contribution for 2010 to increase to approximatk®@ million.

In addition, should future investment returns prosafficient to meet future obligations, or shotuture obligations
increase due to actuarial factors or changes isiperegislation, then the Company may be requivadake additione
cash contributions. This could adversely impactresults of operations, financial position and césvs.
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We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes and state taxéib iS., as well as numerous foreign jurisdicti@ignificant
judgment is required in determining our worldwideyasion for income taxes. In the ordinary coureur business
there are many transactions and calculations wheraltimate tax determination is uncertain. Weanmgently under
tax audit by the United Kingdom tax authority. Adtigh we believe our tax estimates are reasondigdinal
determination of tax audits and any related litmatould be materially different than that whistréflected in our
consolidated financial statements. Should any talaity take issue with our estimates, this cadgersely impact ol
results of operations, financial position and ciémvs.

Our reliance on a small number of significant custters may have a material adverse impact on our fesaf
operations.

Our principal customers are major multinational atate owned oil companies, and large multinatiomahufacturers
of personal care and household products. Theseatinelsiare characterized by concentration of aléege participants.
The loss of a significant customer, a material ofida in purchases by a significant customer, or-renewal of a
significant customer contract, could adversely iotaur results of operations, financial position @ash flows.

Our success depends on our management team andr e personnel, the loss of any of whom could dist our
business operations.

Our future success will depend in substantial parthe continued services of our senior manageri@etloss of the
services of one or more of our key personnel couftede implementation of our business plan andtregsteduced
profitability. Our future success will also depaydthe continued ability to attract, retain and inade highly-qualified
technical sales and support staff. We cannot gteeghat we will be able to retain our key persdon¢hat we will be
able to attract, assimilate or retain qualifiedspanel in the future. If we are unsuccessful ineftorts in this regard
this could adversely impact our results of operatjdinancial position and cash flows.

Strikes or other forms of work stoppage or slowdowauld disrupt our business and lead to increasests.

Adverse labor relations or contract negotiatiors tto not result in an agreement could resultrikest or slowdowns.
These disruptions may decrease our production @ed sr impose additional costs to resolve dispatelsadversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

Our reliance on a small number of significant stobklders may have a material adverse impact on diaick price.

Almost fifty percent of the Company’s common staskeld by three stockholders. A decision by anthete
stockholders to sell all or a significant parttsffolding in the
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Company, or a sudden or unexpected dispositioroafiiany stock, could result in a significant decimé¢he
Company’s stock price which could in turn adverseipact our ability to access equity markets whicturn could
adversely impact our results of operations, finangosition and cash flows.

Approximately twenty percent of the Compasigommon stock has been held or controlled by merfiapital Partner
L.P., Tontine 25 Overseas Master Fund, L.P., Ten@iapital Management L.L.C., Tontine Capital Ovassklaster
Fund, L.P., Tontine Capital Overseas GP, L.L.C. &fttey L. Gendell (collectively “Gendell et al'®n both
November 10, 2008, and October 22, 2009, Gendalljetntly filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC inianthey
reported that they are exploring alternatives lierdisposition of their equity interests in the @amy’s common stock
which aggregated to 4,828,345 shares at both dateBebruary 1, 2010, Gendell et al jointly filetuether Schedule
13D with the SEC in which they reported that thay heallocated their equity interests in the Corngfgacommon
stock amongst themselves, Tontine Capital Ovengkaser Fund Il, L.P. and Tontine Asset Associdtes.C..
Following this reallocation their equity interegigshe Company’s common stock remained 4,828,34%esh

Competition and market conditions may adverselyeaff our operating results.

Certain markets in which the Company’s businespesate are subject to significant competition. Toenpany
competes on the basis of a number of factors inmafydbut not limited to, product quality and projpes, specialized
product lives, customer relationships and senaoé, regulatory and toxicological expertise. For sahour products
our competitors are larger than us and may hawe@raccess to financial, technological and otesources. As a
result, these competitors may be better able tptadachanges in conditions within the industriesvhich the
Company operates, fluctuations in the costs ofmmaerials or changes in global economic conditi@npetitors
may also be able to introduce new products wittaanld features that may cause a decline in therdearad sales of
our products. Consolidation of customers or congesti or economic problems of customers, in theketaareas in
which the Company operates may cause a loss ofainsinare for the Comparsyproducts, place downward pressur
prices, result in payment delays or non-paymentdsatining plant utilization rates. Any of thessks could adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

We could be adversely affected by technologicalraes in our industry.

Our ability to maintain or enhance our technolobgagabilities, develop and market products andieguons that
meet changing customer requirements, and succhlysaficipate or respond to technological changes cost effectiv
and timely manner will likely impact our future less success. The Company competes on the basisuohber of
factors including, but not limited to, product gtiahnd properties. For some products our compgstéoe larger than |
and may have greater access to financial, techiwallognd other resources. Competitors may be abl@roduce new
products with enhanced features that may causelmeén the demand and sales of the Company’symtsdand
accordingly could adversely impact our resultsmérations, financial position and cash flows.
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Continuing adverse global economic conditions coulthterially affect our current and future businesse

The global economy and capital and credit markat® lmecently experienced severe disruptions. Oggmncerns
about the systemic impact of potential long-termd ade-spread national recessions, volatile eneogys, geopolitical
issues, the availability, cost and terms of cratbt;lining consumer and business confidence, suiiesity increased
unemployment and the crisis in the global housimg) mortgage markets have contributed to increasetiehvolatility
and diminished expectations for both establisheteanerging economies, including those in which ywerate. In the
second half of 2008, added concerns fuelled by gowent interventions in financial systems led waased market
uncertainty and instability in both U.S. and inegtranal capital and credit markets. These condstimawve contributed
substantial economic uncertainty.

Concern about the stability of the markets gengeaild the strength of counterparties specificallg led many lenders
and institutional investors to reduce, and in me&ages cease to provide, credit to businesses aisdroers. These
factors have led to a substantial and continuirggesse in spending by businesses and consumera,@mesponding
decrease in global infrastructure spending. Thdaility, cost and terms of credit have been, ara continue to be,
adversely affected by the foregoing factors anddh@rcumstances have produced, and may in theefrggult in,
illiquid markets and wider credit spreads. Contohtirbulence in the U.S. and international market$ economies, tt
generally restricted environment for credit, andl@nged declines in business and consumer specdinld adversely
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchangges, which may adversely affect our results okogtions.

The Company generates a portion of its revenuesnands some operating costs in currencies otlaar the U.S.
dollar. In addition, the financial position andutts of operations of some of our foreign subsidgare reported in the
relevant local currency and then translated to daBars at the applicable currency exchange fatenclusion in our
consolidated financial statements. Fluctuationsxichange rates between these foreign currenciethand.S. dollar
will affect the recorded levels of our assets aalbilities, to the extent such figures reflect thelusion of foreign asse
and liabilities that are translated into U.S. dallfor presentation in our financial statementsyal as our results of
operations.

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonl&uro and
British pound sterling. We cannot accurately prettie nature or extent of future exchange rateabdity amongst
these currencies or relative to the U.S. dollarilgwihe Company takes steps to manage currencysexpoincluding
entering into hedging transactions, it cannot elate all exposure to future exchange rate vartgblixchange rates
between these currencies and the U.S. dollar Hagti&ted significantly in recent years and maytiome to do so in
the future, which could adversely impact our resaftoperations, financial position and cash flows.
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A disruption in the supply of raw materials or traportation services would have a material advers@act on our
results of operations.

The chemical industry and transportation industeyia a situation where the supply and demand dth bransportatio
services and raw materials are currently broadlyailance. When we identify a situation where analafice may occt
or is occurring we may build certain product inweres of strategic importance. Any significant digiion in the suppl
of either of these could affect our ability to adbhteaw materials or transportation services at ssitée costs, if at all,
which could adversely impact our results of operetj financial position and cash flows.

Sharp and unexpected fluctuations in the cost ofroaw materials and energy could adversely affear @rofit
margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amatggnin our manufacturing and blending processeswbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationsamst can be caused by political instability ingmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global syjmd demand of these materials, over which wes ligtle or no
control. We use long-term contracts (generally iited costs and escalation terms) to help ensuagadility,
continuity of supply and manage the risk of costéases and have entered hedging arrangementsfainaaw
materials, but do not typically enter into hedgargangements for all raw materials, chemicals ergncosts. Should
the costs of raw materials, chemicals or energsesse, and should the Company’s businesses naild&gpass on
these cost increases to our customers, then apgraargins and cash flows from operating activitvesild be
adversely impacted. Should raw material costs asgesignificantly, then the Compasyieed for working capital cot
also increase. Any of these risks could adversepaict our results of operations, financial positma cash flows.

We face risks related to our foreign operations thmaay adversely affect our business.

We serve global markets and accordingly operateitain countries which do not have stable econsmie
governments. Specifically, we trade in countriegeziencing political and economic instability iretMiddle East and
Asia Pacific regions. Our international operatians subject to international business risks inclgdbut not limited to,
unsettled political conditions, risk of expropratj import and export restrictions, exchange cdsitraational and
regional labor strikes, high or unexpected taxesegnment royalties and restrictions on repatmatbearnings or
proceeds from liquidated assets of foreign subsetiaThe occurrence or imposition of any, or a bwration, of these
factors could adversely impact our results of opena, financial position and cash flows.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rightsould adversely affect our future performance andsh flows.

Our intellectual property, including trademarkstgmds and licenses, forms a significant part ofGbenpany’s
competitive strengths. We therefore depend on bilityato develop and
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protect our intellectual property rights to distingh our products from those of our competitorsluFa to develop or
protect our intellectual property rights may resulthe loss of valuable technologies, or our hgimpay other
companies for infringing on their intellectual pesty rights. Measures taken by us to protect otallactual property
may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented odeeed unenforceable. We may also face patent génrent claims
from our competitors which may result in substdditigation costs, claims for damages or a tarimglof our
reputation even if we are successful in defendgmyrest these claims, which may cause our custotoewitch to our
competitors. The occurrence of any, or a combinatid these events could adversely impact our tesfiloperations,
financial position and cash flows.

We are subject to extensive government regulation.

We are subject to regulation by local, state, fabdand foreign governmental authorities. In sommeurnstances these
authorities must approve our products, manufaajysnocesses and facilities before we may sell repaducts. Man'
of the Company’s products are required to be regstwith the U.S. Environmental Protection Age(i&PA”) and
with comparable governmental agencies in the Ewopimion (“EU”) and elsewhere. We are also sulijgcingoing
reviews of our products, manufacturing processedadilities by governmental authorities includithg requirement t
produce product data.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certagwrproducts we must, amongst other things, dematestio the
relevant authorities that the product is safe dfettve for its intended uses, and that we arebsgpof manufacturing
the product in accordance with applicable regutetid his approval process can be costly, time comgy and subject
to unanticipated and significant delays. Accordngihere can be no assurance that approvals wiléeted on a time
basis, or at all. Any delay in obtaining, or aniyuige to obtain or maintain, these approvals wadgersely affect our
ability to introduce new products and to generat®me from those products. New laws and regulatioag be
introduced in the future that could result in aadial compliance costs and prevent or inhibit taeedopment,
distribution and sale of our products. While ther@any expects that its products will obtain reqariagpproval it is
possible that certain products may not. In sucbhwoome some of the Company’s products may bactestror
prohibited in the jurisdiction where approval canbe obtained, which could adversely impact ounltef operations
financial position and cash flows.

Legal proceedings and other claims could impose stabtial costs on us

In addition to matters described in more detaltém 3 of Part | (“Legal Proceedings”), we are agonally involved in
legal proceedings that result from, and are indaldn, the conduct of our business, including emeé and product
liability claims. We have insurance coverage tagate anticipated potential damages in a wide tsanésuch
proceedings, however if our insurance did not ceueh claims, this could adversely impact our tesafl operations,
financial position and cash flows.
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Unexpected environmental matters could have a sahsal adverse impact on our results of operations.

The Company operates a number of manufacturing. sN&such, it is subject to extensive federatestacal and
foreign environmental, health and safety laws @gilations concerning emissions to the air, digggmato land and
water and the generation, handling, treatment &pbdal of hazardous waste and other materialbesetsites. The
Company is also required to obtain various envirental permits and licenses many of which requireode
notification and renewal.

The Company'’s historic operations, and the histopierations of companies that have previously dpdran sites that
the Company has acquired, pose the risk of enviesrtah contamination on these sites should unexgecte
environmental contamination be found. Discoveryméxpected contamination may result in fines angral sanction
being imposed against the Company or may requa€timpany to pay material remediation or finestidress the
effects and to remediate this contamination.

The Company further anticipates that certain prododacilities may cease production over the medto long-term.
On closure of some of our production operationmefuture, we expect to be subject to environmédanes that will
require these facilities to be safely decommisgicened a degree of environmental remediation torakedaken. The
degree of environmental remediation required wajbeind on the plans for the future use of the ojpgraites that are
affected and the environmental legislation in faait¢éhe time. The Company has currently made ardegssioning an
remediation provision based on the Company’s ctikleown obligations, the anticipated plans for theges and
existing environmental legislation. Should theraubexpected or unknown contamination at theseitiasil or the
Company’s future plans for the sites or environraklegislation change, then current provisions m@ye inadequate
and this could adversely impact our results of appens, financial position and cash flows.

The terms of our finance facility may restrict owbility to incur additional indebtedness or to otiveise expand our
business.

The Company'’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andtlouar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thHenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the finance facility and include atemial adverse
change to our business, properties, assets, fedagamndition or results of operations. The facialgo contains a numt
of restrictions that limit our ability, amongst etithings, and subject to certain limited excejdo incur additional
indebtedness, pledge our assets as security, gearalpligations of third parties, make investmemtsiergo a merger
or consolidation, dispose of assets, or matercinge our line of business.

In addition, the finance facility requires the Caanp to meet certain financial ratios defined therecluding net debt
to EBITDA and net interest expense to EBITDA. Thdigy to meet these financial covenants dependsiupe future
successful operating performance of
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the businesses. If the Company fails to meet targetnants then it would be in technical defautterthe finance
facility and the maturity of the Company’s outstagddebt could be accelerated unless we were aldbtain waivers
from our lenders. If the Company were found torbdefault under the finance facility, this couldradsely impact our
results of operations, financial position and ciéms.

We may not be able to consummate, finance or susfiély integrate future acquisitions, partnerships other
opportunities into our business, which could hindeur strategy or result in unanticipated expensasddosses.

It is part of our stated strategy that we inten@uosue strategic acquisitions, partnerships anerapportunities to
complement and expand our existing businessesakilitly to implement this component of our strategi be limited
by our ability to identify appropriate acquisitionertnerships or other opportunities and limitgdibancial resources,
including our available cash and borrowing capaaity the financial markets. Moreover, as furthescdeed above, t
availability of liquidity and credit to fund or spprt the continuation and expansion of businessatioas worldwide
has reduced. As a result, many lenders and insti@itinvestors have reduced and, in some casaseddo provide
funding to borrowers. Continued disruption of tlhedit markets has affected and could adversely atngar ability to
complete strategic acquisitions, partnerships dhdrapportunities which in turn could adverselyant our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.

The success of our strategic acquisitions, pat@ssand other opportunities will depend on outigtio integrate
assets and personnel acquired in these transadcipply our internal controls processes to thegeiesd businesses,
and cooperate with our strategic partners. Therese@curred in consummating acquisitions, parimpssor other
opportunities, the time it takes to integrate aguasition, or our failure to integrate businessascessfully, could result
in unanticipated expenses and losses. The prote#ggrating acquired operations into our existopgrations may
result in unforeseen operating difficulties and meguire significant financial resources that woollderwise be
available for the ongoing development or expansioexisting operations. Furthermore, we may nolizeahe degree
or timing of benefits we anticipate when we firatex a transaction. Any of these risks could addgrsnpact our
results of operations, financial position and ciéms.

Our business is subject to the risk of productionteansportation disruptions, the occurrence of amf which would
adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to hazards common to chemical matnufag, blending, storage, handling and transpiortancluding
fires, explosions, mechanical failure, transpootainterruptions, remediation, chemical spills #melrelease or
discharge of toxic or hazardous substances. Threesgdis could result in loss of life, property damagnvironmental
contamination and temporary or permanent producessation. Any, or a combination, of these factordd adverse
impact our results of operations, financial positemd cash flows.
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Domestic or international natural disasters or temrist attacks may disrupt our operations, decredise demand fol
our products or otherwise have an adverse impactoom business.

Chemical related assets, and U.S. corporationsasiclirselves, may be at greater risk of futuretist attacks than
other possible targets in the U.S., United Kingdiord throughout the world. Extraordinary events saghatural
disasters may negatively affect local economieduding those of our customers or suppliers. Th®ioence of such
events cannot be predicted though they can be tsg&x continue to adversely impact the econongeimeral and our
specific markets. The resulting damage from sucévamt could include loss of life, property damagsite closure.
Any, or a combination, of these factors could adelrimpact our results of operations, financiaipon and cash
flows.

The inability of counterparties to meet their comictual obligations could have a substantial adversgact on our
results of operations.

The Company sells a range of specialty chemicatsistomers around the world. Credit limits, onganedit
evaluation and account monitoring procedures agd ts minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is noteratly required.
The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to genaarket risks. The Company enters into derivatisguments wit
a diversified group of major financial institutiomsorder to monitor the exposure to hon-perforneaoicsuch
instruments. The Company has in place a finanandity with a syndicate of banks.

The Company remains subject to market and cregli$ including the ability of counterparties to ménetir contractual
obligations and the potential non-performance ainterparties to deliver contracted commoditieseovises at the
contracted price. Due to the disruptions in thelitr@nd global financial markets the ability of coerparties to meet
their contractual obligations may be reduced argldbuld have an adverse impact on results of dpes financial
position and cash flows.

Our Octane Additives business could decline fagtean expected.

Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1973, irtipalar following the enactment of the U.S. Cle&inAct of 1970
and similar legislation in other countries. Thentte®f countries exiting the leaded gasoline malkstresulted in an
average rate of decline in volume terms in demandEL in the last five years of approximately 3% annum. Net
sales and gross profit of our Octane Additives mess accounted for approximately 8% and 8%, resspégctof our
consolidated sales and gross profit in 2009. Theneing sales of the Octane Additives businessave concentrated
in a relatively small number of customers and tfegeemay decline with unpredictable volatility aselverity. Should
one or more of these customers choose for econemionmental, political or other reasons to ceaseg TEL as an
octane enhancer earlier than has been anticiphitsuthe Company’s future results of operatiorgriitial position and
cash flows could be adversely impacted. There calglol be an accelerated impairment of Octane Additbusiness
goodwill as the forecast discounted cash flows ftbat business would be reduced. The Company pate&s that
eventually all
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countries in the world will stop the use of TELantomotive gasoline. The Company expects thatlittease all sales
of TEL for use in automotive gasoline in 2012.

ltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2 Properties

A summary of the Company’s principal propertieshswn in the following table. Each of these praperis owned by
the Company except where otherwise noted:

Location Business and Business Segme Operations
Littleton, Coloradc® Innospec Fuel Specialties LL- Fuel Specialties and Acti American Headquarte
Chemicals Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Ellesmere Port, United Kingdo Innospec Inc. and Innospec Limit— Fuel Specialties, Activ.  European Headquarte
Chemicals and Octane Additives Business Teams

Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Research & Development
Fuel Technology Centt

Singapore, Singapo® Innospec Asia Pacific Pte L— Fuel Specialties and Acti\ Asia-Pacific Headquarte!
Chemicals Business Teams
Sales/Administratiol
Widnes, United Kingdon Innospec Widnes Limite— Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol
Herne, German Innospec Deutschland Gmt- Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic
Leuna, Germany Innospec Leuna GmbH — Fuel Specialties and Active Sales/Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals
Vernon, Franci Innospec France S- Fuel Specialtie Sales/Manufacturing/Administratic
Zug, Switzerlan® Alcor Chemie Vertriebs Gmbl- Octane Additives Sales/Administratiol
Newark, Delawar® Innospec Fuel Specialties LL- Fuel Specialtie Sales/Administratiol
Research & Developme
High Point, North Carolin: Innospec Active Chemicals LL- Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol
Spencer, North Carolir Innospec Active Chemicals LL- Active Chemicals Manufacturing/Administratiol

(1) Leased propert

The corporate headquarters of Innospec Inc. idddcat 220 Continental Drive, Newark, DE 19713. Pphacipal
executive offices of Innospec Inc. are locatechabkpec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, EllesnRort, Cheshire
United Kingdom, CH65 4EY.
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Production Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreemestsu#ficient to meet expected future sales lev@fgerating rates of
the plants are generally flexible and varied witbduct mix and normal sales swings. We believe ahaif our
facilities are well maintained and in good opemitondition though there remains an ongoing needdpital
investment.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings
United Nations Oil for Food Prograrh@FFP') and U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices AGECPA’) investigations

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamronenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with certaamgactions
conducted by or involving the Company, includinggé conducted by its wholly owned indirect Swidssadiary,
Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”), under the ©F between June 1, 1999 and December 31, 2003arAsfats
investigation, the SEC issued a subpoena requin@groduction of certain documents, including aoeants relating t
these transactions, by the Company and Alcor. Upoeipt of the SEC’s notification and initial sulepa, the
Company undertook a review of its participationhia OFFP.

On October 10, 2007 and November 1, 2007, the SE@d two additional subpoenas on the Company.erhes
additional subpoenas required the production oftidwmts relating both to the OFFP, and also to &@tiens conducte
by the Company or its subsidiaries with state ownrestate controlled entities between June 1, E@bthe date of
such subpoenas, concerning the use of foreign agexltthe possibility of extra-contractual payméatsecure
business with foreign governmental entities indbetext of the FCPA and other laws. In a coordithateestigation,
the Company was also notified by the U.S. Departrokdustice (“DOJ”) regarding the possibility ablations by the
Company or its subsidiaries arising under otheslatgmming from matters covered by the SEC invatstig as well a
certain preliminary inquiries regarding compliangéh antitrust laws applicable to the U.S. and internatideah ethy
lead markets. The subjects into which the SEC a@d bave inquired include areas that concern ceiidamer and
current executives of the Company, including oumfer CEO, who resigned on March 20, 2009. The Compand its
officers and directors are cooperating with the $#G DOJ investigations.

On February 19, 2008, the Board of Directors of@oepany formed a committee comprised of the cheirof the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Nominating amy&nance Committee, all of whom were independent
directors. (The chairman of the Nominating and Goaace Committee retired as a director of the Cowypgdfective
May 6, 2008, but his services were retained imaependent capacity as a member of the committieQatober 1,
2009 when he resigned. Mr. Haubold did not resgya eesult of any dispute or disagreement wititbmpany or the
committee). External counsel to the Company, répptb the committee has, on behalf of the commjtt®nducted
and will continue to
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conduct an investigation into the circumstancesgivise to the SEC and DOJ investigations. Extezoansel reports
directly to the committee and assists in conneatidh communications and interactions with the S&@ DOJ.

On March 5, 2008, a letter was received by the Gomgrom the DOJ in which a request for a wider arade detailed
range of documents was made. A further letter wasived from the DOJ on June 13, 2009 which coethrequests
for information made by the U.S. Office of Forei§yssets Control (“OFAC”). In addition to the volungadisclosure
made in relation to the Bycosin disposal OFAC @uining into business the Company may have conduateountries
in respect of which there are U.S. laws and regratthat restrict trade.

On July 31, 2009, the DOJ issued a press releashiah it disclosed the arrest of an individual @né unsealing of an
August 7, 2008 indictment in the U.S. District Cioiar the District of Columbia against the indivaldor certain FCP,
violations relating to his alleged participationain eight-year conspiracy to defraud the OFFP aruwlibe Iraqi
government officials on behalf of a publicly tradédd. chemical company in connection with the séla chemical
additive used in the refining of leaded fuel. Tindividual is the Company’s former agent for Iraglaertain other
markets and the Company understands the indicttoertate to the matters that are the subject@fORFP and FCPA
investigations of the Company.

Separately, on May 21, 2008, the United Kingdongsdis Fraud Office (“SFQO”) notified Innospec Liexk, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, that it had contadran investigation into certain contracts invadyBritish
companies under the OFFP. As part of this investigathe SFO has asked the Company to producentkemis in
respect of the Compargy/participation in the OFFP between January 1, E®@bDecember 31, 2003. Following rect
of the SFOS$ notice the Company has instructed external legahsel to advise and assist in relation to theshgatior
and the Company and its directors and officersimhte cooperate with the SFO. On October 16, 20@8Company
was further notified that the scope of the SFOl®stigation would extend to matters relating taeptial bribery
involving overseas commercial agents that are djr@athe large part the subject of the ongoing R@Jd SEC
investigations. This investigation by the SFO samyl includes areas that concern certain formercamcent executives
of the Company.

The Company and its officers and directors intendantinue to cooperate with the SEC, DOJ and SFO.

The outcome of these investigations remains unoaxdadhe Company. Discussions with the SEC, DQI SIRO are
ongoing in an effort to resolve these investigagjancluding discussions with a view to settlemdimie amount of any
final settlement, including the final amount of pable disgorgement, penalties and/or fines thatas be subject to,
has yet to be conclusively determined. The amotiahy disgorgements, penalties and/or fines trebmpany could
face depends on a number of eventual factors wiaek yet to be finally resolved with the relevaovernment
authorities, including findings by relevant autlies regarding the amount, nature and scope ofrapsoper payment:
the amount of any pecuniary gain involved, the Canys ability to pay, and the level of cooperatmnovided
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to government authorities during the investigatigks previously disclosed, for accounting purposased on a
potential settlement range of $18.3 million to ¥6&iillion in connection with the ongoing discussomith governmer
authorities, we recorded in the third quarter d2@n $18.3 million accrual for potential globditisanent of these
investigations as required under U.S. GAAP. Inftheth quarter of 2009, we similarly recorded adiadnal accrual
of $21.9 million for anticipated global settlemefithis matter, bringing total accruals to $40.2lion, based on our
assessment for accounting purposes of the bestagstivithin an anticipated settlement range of &28llion to $40.2
million. As these accruals are estimates, then®iassurance that final settlement amount willespond to the accru
amounts.

Because of the uncertainties associated with timaatle outcome of these investigations and thesdosthe Company
of responding and participating in them, no asstgaran be given that the ultimate costs incurretdsamctions that
may be imposed will not have a material adverseachpn the Company’s results of operations, firgnuosition and
cash flows.

As part of the Company’s commitment to cooperate@mply with the OFFP and FCPA investigationsG@oapany
has accrued and spent the following amounts irectsy estimated probable future legal and othefgsisional
expenses:

Provision
remaining
Accrued at year

(in millions) Spent end
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 12 $ (0.9 $ 04
Year ended December 31, 2C 4.€ (1.9 3.7
Year ended December 31, 2C 15.t (15.¢) 3.4
Year ended December 31, 2C 12.¢ (13.6€) $ 2.7

$ 342  $(315

These accruals have been made on the basis obthpady’s current best estimate, working in consiolawith the
committee of the Board of Directors, external leginsel to the Company and its other professiadailsors. Should
any underlying assumptions prove incorrect or sthanly of the DOJ, SEC and/or the SFO alter theesobhe
investigations, then the actual costs incurrechieyGompany could differ materially from currentisttes. The
Company continues to keep the amount of such ageraasions under review.

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of tbeban Assets Control Requlations to the Officearelgn Assets
Control and other matters

Given the international scope of its operations,@mmpany is subject to laws of many differentsdictions, including
laws relating to the imposition of restrictionstoade and investment with various entities, persotscountries, some
of which laws are conflicting. In 2004 the Compaayiewed, as it does periodically, aspects of srations in respect
of such restrictions, and determined to disposgedkin non-core, non-U.S. subsidiaries of Bycddin Bycosin’s non-
U.S. subsidiaries had been engaged in transadiwhactivities
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involving Cuban persons and entities before theiaden of the Bycosin Group by the Company ind@901, and
such subsidiaries were continuing to engage in sactsactions and activities at the time of th@aksl of the norcore
Fuel Specialties business and related assets iariMoer 2004. On November 15, 2004, Bycosin AB, allowned
subsidiary of the Company organized under the aw&veden (now known as Innospec Sweden AB, théeiSg
entered into a Business and Asset Purchase AgréétherfAgreement”) with Pesdo Swedcap Holdings @i
“Purchaser”), Hakan Bystrom and others as the Rs@ts guarantors, and Octel Petroleum Specidliieited (now
known as Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited) asStbiéer’s guarantor, and completed the all-cashstation
contemplated thereby (together with related trainsas, the “Transaction”). The Agreement provided amongst
other things: (i) the disposal of certain non-déuel Specialties business and related manufactandgther assets of
the Seller; and (ii) the supply and distributiornceftain power products to certain geographic regid he net
consideration paid by the Purchaser was approxiyn&fe9 million.

Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&ofeign Assel
Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions and actestengaged in by certain non-U.S. subsidiarigkefCompany.
Disclosures, amongst other items, included thatgwegate monetary value of the transactions wvgIlCuban
persons and entities conducted by the Company’d.h8nsubsidiaries since January 1999 was appra&iyn$26.6
million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingthe Company to
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Whdealties could be
assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessedipsragjainst the Company on a “performance of ectdrbasis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, ia tiase of civil violations of the Cuban Assets @uriRegulations (31
CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?”), of the lesser of $65,0@0 piolation or the value of the contract. Sinceutay 1999, non-
U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entereddi@tcontracts with Cuban entities, each of whichld¢ttwe considered
a separate violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC rtel§e the position that the CACR should be integutetr
applied in a different manner, potentially evemp#omit the assessment of penalties equal to otegréaan the value of
the business conducted with Cuban persons oresatiti

The Company has considered the range of possilttemes and potential penalties payable. In accoslaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beadefor management’s current best estimate ofdktenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hovesyshould the underlying assumptions prove inctrtae actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tones# the
amount of any additional loss, if any.

In addition to the voluntary disclosure made iratiein to the Bycosin disposal, and as referred thé Company’s
disclosure relating to the investigations intamglvement in the OFFP and FCPA matters, OFAQ@dgiiring into
business the Company may have
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conducted in countries in respect of which theeel&sS. laws and regulations that restrict trade Tompany and its
officers and directors intend to continue to coapewith OFAC.

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjrwere found not to have complied with the CAGRgther U.S.
laws or regulations that restrict trade with cert@duntries, the Company believes that it couldudgect to fines or
other civil or criminal penalties which could be tevzal.

Patent Actions

The Company is actively opposing certain third pagtents in various regions of the world. The@awiare part of the
Company’s ongoing management of its intellectuapprty portfolio. The Company does not believe drat of these
actions will have a material effect on the finahciandition or results of operations of the Company

Other Legal Matters

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this Form 10-Kargenot involved in any other administrative origiel proceedings
arising under provisions enacted that regulateltbeharge of materials into the environment or &ethor the purpose
of protecting the environment involving a governtaéauthority as a party, which involves potentradnetary
sanctions which the Company reasonably believdg®gult in monetary sanctions of more than $100,00

We are involved from time to time in claims anddkegroceedings that result from, and are incideiotathe conduct of
our business including business and commercighlitbn, employee and product liability claims. Téare no other
material pending legal proceedings to which the gamy or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or bfaki any of their
property is subject, other than ordinary, routitigdtion incidental to their respective businesses

Whilst it is not possible to predict with certairttye outcome of any legal proceedings, it is ouniop based on our
current knowledge that we will not suffer any meteadverse effect on our results of operatiomsgricial position or
cash flows as a result of any actual or threatditigdtion.

Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:

No matter was submitted to a vote of security haldiring the quarter ended December 31, 2
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, anddsuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NASD@&@Nbol — IOSP). As of February 11, 2010 there were
approximately 1,200 registered holders of the comstock. The following table shows the closing hagia low prices
of our common stock for each of the last eight tgrar

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2009
High $ 6.31 $11.3] $15.6: $15.41
Low $ 2.7¢ $ 3.9t $10.0( $ 8.8¢
2008
High $22.6( $25.2¢ $23.4¢ $11.0¢
Low $14.1( $18.8¢ $11.6( $ 4.5¢2
Dividends

In line with its policy of semannual consideration of a dividend the Companyated|the following cash dividends
the two years ended December 31, 2009.

Date declared Stockholders of record Date paid Amount per share

February 22, 2008 March 14, 2008 April 4, 5 cents
2008

August 14, 2008 September 1, 2008 October 5 cents
6, 2008

February 23, 2009 March 16, 2009 April 6, 5 cents
2009

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyence facility which contains no restrictivevemants with
respect to dividends and the Company is allowaéparchase its own common stock provided thatesdwmwt affect
compliance with the financial covenants in thislfac

Related Stockholder Matters

On June 12, 2009 the Board of Directors of the Camgmapproved a stockholder rights plan (the “Plaim’connection
with the Plan a dividend was declared of one pretestock (designated as Series B Junior Partingp&referred
Stock) right for each outstanding share of Innodpeccommon stock (each a “Right”). The Rightseltied to all
common stock certificates representing sharesandstg on June 26, 2009, the record date. Sulgesrtain
exceptions, the Rights are exercisable only ifr@q@®or group acquires 15% or more of Innospecdimommon stock,
including through derivatives, or announces a tende
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exchange offer which would result in ownership 5%dor more of the common stock (an “Acquiring Pat$oTontine
Capital Partners, L.P. and its affiliates, whicteatly own approximately 20% of the Company’s comstock, will

not be treated as an Acquiring Person for the mapof the Plan unless they purchase additiona¢slaamd as a result
own 21% or more of the Company’s common stock,nbess another person or entity becomes affiliatemssociated
with them and together they own 21% or more ofGbenpany’s common stock. Each Right entitles itslaoto buy
one one-thousandth of a share of Series B Juniticipating Preferred Stock at an exercise prica8, subject to
adjustment. Initially, the Rights are not exercleadnd will be transferred with and only with ther@pany’s common
stock. Following the acquisition of 15% or mordmfiospec Inc. common stock by a person or growphtiders of the
Rights (other than the Acquiring Person or groutl) ve entitled to purchase shares of common stiane-half the
market price of such shares, and, in the eventsobaequent merger or other acquisition of the Gompto buy shares
of common stock of the acquiring entity at one-ludithe market price of those shares.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
No purchases of equity securities by the issuaffdiated purchasers were made during the fouuartgr of 2009
Repurchases of common stock are held as treasargsshinless reissued under equity compensatios.plan

The Company has authorized securities for issuander equity compensation plans. The informatiantaioed in the
table entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Informatiander the heading “Equity Compensation Plangh& Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.clineent limit for the total amount of shares whean be issued or
awarded under the Company’s five share option pafas/90,000.

The Company has not, within the last three yeasglenany sales of unregistered securities.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total netiiistockholders on the Common Stock of the Capam, S&P
500 Index, NASDAQ Composite Index and Russell 20@igx since December 31, 2004, assuming a $10Gtiment

and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Inc, vs S&F 500, NASDAQ Composite and Russcll 2000 Indices
Tetal Remrn to Shareholders since December 31, 20004
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ltem 6 Selected Financial Date
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(dollar amounts in millions 2005 @

except financial ratios and per share data) 2009 2008 2007 2006

Summary of performance
Net sales $ 598.t $ 640.t $ 602.¢ $ 532.1 $ 564.¢
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (3.7 (12.1) (36.7) (134.9
Operating income/(los: 20.7 43.€ 47.€ 31.¢€ (97.7)
Income/(loss) before income tax 18.: 18.¢ 47.¢ 31.¢ (227.9
Income taxe: (11.9 (6.3 (18.2) (20.9) (4.2)
Net income/(loss 6.4 12.€ 29.€ 11 (122.0)
Net income attributable to the noncontrolling it — (0.7 (0.2 (0.3 (0.2)
Income/(loss) from continuing operations attriblgaio Innospec Inc 6.4 12.5 29.t 114 (222.9)
Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec | 6.4 12.5 29.t 11.4 (123.9)
Net cash provided by operating activit 87.4 14.4 47.¢ 36.4 43.¢

Financial position at year end
Total asset 543.1 494.% 551.1 569.( 675.:
Long-term debt (including current portio 51.C 73.C 81.C 148.1 144.¢
Stockholder’ equity $ 157.€ $ 229. $ 271k $ 225.( $ 314..

Financial ratios
Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec Inca@ercent of sale 1.1 2.C 4.9 2.1 (21.9)
Effective income tax rate as a perc® 65.C 33.8 38.1 63.¢ (3.6)
Current ratic® 1.6 14 1.6 2.1 1.7

Share data®
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to Innodpec

— Basic 0.27 0.52 1.2¢ 0.47 (5.00
— Fully diluted 0.2¢ 0.51 1.1¢ 0.4t (5.00
Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operatattributable to

Innospec Inc
— Basic 0.27 0.5% 1.2t 0.47 (4.99
— Fully diluted 0.2¢ 0.51 1.1¢ 0.4t (4.99
Dividend paid per shai 0.0t 0.1C 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.07
Shares outstanding (basic, thousai
— At year enc 23,66¢ 23,59¢ 23,77 23,80¢ 24,65(
— Average during yee 23,64: 23,59¢ 23,92( 24,14 24,731
Closing stock prict
— High 15.6: 25.2¢ 31.82 24.2( 10.2¢
- Low 2.7¢ 4.54 16.2¢€ 8.3¢ 7.3C
— At year enc 10.0¢ 5.8¢ 17.1¢€ 23.2¢ 8.1

(1) 2005 comparatives have been restated in ordefleztreiscontinued operation
(2) The effective tax rate is calculated as a percentdgncome before income tax
(3) Current ratio is defined as current assets dividedurrent liabilities

(4) OnJune 18, 2007 the Company announced th&dhed of Directors had approved a 2-for-1 stodk spbe effected in the form of a
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asutf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every
share they owned on that date. The shares werédisd on July 20, 2007. Stock option holders irezmk one additional option for every
option they held and the original exercise pricesliese options were halved to reflect the stptik She table above has been
retrospectively adjusted for this stock sg
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QUARTERLY SUMMARY (UNAUDITED)

(dollar amounts in millions
except per share data)

2009

Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income/(los:
Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec
Net cash provided by operating activit
Per common shar

Earnings/(loss- basic

— fully diluted @

2008

Net sales
Gross profit
Operating incom:
Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec I® @
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activi
Per common shar

Earnings— basic

— fully diluted @

NOTES

(1) Special items during the year ended December 319 26mprised the followin¢

(dollar amounts in millions
except per share data)

2009

Oil for Food/FCPA anticipated settlement acci
Oil for Food/FCPA legal and professional fe
Prior year’ United Kingdom sales tax settlem
Gain on forfeited stock optior

Restructuring charg

Octane Additives business goodwill impairm
Foreign exchange gains/(loss

Adjustment of income tax provisiol

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$148.1 $137.( $149.2 $164.2

50.z 40.¢ 47 .2 51.1

18.2 6.1 (1.7) (1.9)
6.4 3.C (2.7) (0.3
$ 27.: $ 18.: $ 11.1 $ 30.7
$ 027 $ 0.1° $(0.1)  $(0.00
$ 026 $ 0.1z $(0.1)  $(0.00
$168.7 $145.2 $158.k $168.(

51.7 41.1 43.4 50.z

12.5 4.4 4.7 22.C
7.3 0.8 (0.6) 5.C

$ 19.6 $(16.6 $(125 $ 23.7
$ 031 $ 0.07 $(0.09 $ 0.21
$ 03C $ 0.0° $(0.09 $ 0.2
First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

$ — $ — $(18.3) $(21.9)

(7.0 (5.9 — —

— — — 2.t

24 — — —

(1.9 (0.4) — (1.1

(0.6) (0.5 (0.6) (0.5

(7.7 04 7.C 3.2

$ — $ — $ — $ 23

(2) Inview of the fact that net losses of $(0.3) roiflj $(2.7) million, and $(0.6) million were madetie fourth quarter, 2009, third quart
2009, and third quarter, 2008, respectively, th&dand fully diluted loss per common share arestirae for those quarte
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3)

(4)

Special items during the year ended December 318 20mprised the following

First

R uarter
(dollar amounts in millions Q
except per share data)

2008

Oil for Food/FCPA legal and professional f¢ $ (6.9)
Octane Additives business goodwill impairm (1.2
Acquisitior-related cost —
Restructuring charg (0.5
Foreign exchange gains/(loss $ 0E

The financial results for the third quarter ed&eptember 30, 2008, as presented in the eamglegse on October 30, 2008, were agreec
with our independent registered public accounting, fPricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwQJ)jor to the release. These financial res
included the reversal of contract related provisioh$6.3 million, or $4.5 million after income & to the income statement together
with related disclosure. Subsequent to the issubigfearnings release further consideration wesrgio the reversal of the contract
related provisions by PwC and the Company and $t @mcluded that an alternative accounting treatmvenld be to offset them against

a related intangible asset. After due consideratimriuding advice received from PwC, the Compaetedmined that the most appropr
accounting treatment would be to exclude the relerfscontract related provisions from net incomd affset them against the related
intangible asset. This alternative accounting ineait resulted in a net loss for the quarter enagde®nber 30, 2008 and lower future
amortization charges in respect of the relatedtase Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter endguté$eber 30, 2008 reflected this

alternative accounting treatme
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Second Third
Quarter Quarter
$ — $ (8.7)
(1.0 (1.1
(3.9 —
(1.1 (0.9
$ (1.0 $ (5.0

Fourth
Quarter

$ —
(0.5)
0.2)

$(13.5)
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Item 7 Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of
Operations

This discussion should be read in conjunction with consolidated financial statements and the rtbegto.
GENERAL

We divide our business into three distinct segmémtboth management and reporting purposes: Fueti8lties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpies and Active Chemicals businesses both t@énanarkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities. Théa®e Additives business is characterized by subatan

declining demand.

The Fuel Specialties business develops, manufagthiends and markets a range of specialty chemroducts used
additives to a wide range of fuels. The businesgvgnitially through a program of acquisitions andre recently,
organically, through the development of new produand increases in sales and profitability.

The Active Chemicals business provides effectichnelogy-based solutions for our customers’ praeess products
focused in the Personal Care; Household, Indusriakstitutional; and Fragrance Ingredients marké&tss business
has also grown through acquisitions and we areisgé® develop new products and continue orgaroevgr.

The Octane Additives business is the world’s omtydpicer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”) for use in amototive gasoline.
We are continuing to manage the decrease in tbs s&ITEL for use in automotive gasoline to maxartize cash flow
through the decline. Continuous cost improvemerdsuees have been, and will continue to be, takeesjpond to
declining market demand.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the comloperhting income of the Fuel Specialties and Acivemicals
segments of our business has grown by an avera@6iper annum, as compared with the year endedrbissr 31,
2005, and now drives the operating income genefaterlir businesses. By comparison operating indomie
Octane Additives segment declined from $34.5 nmillio an operating loss of $(44.8) million over Haene period,
although $53.1 million of this decline can be attited to the anticipated settlement accrual, tageitlith legal and
other professional expenses incurred relatinged_hited Nations Oil for Food Program (“OFFP”) dnds. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) investigations. T@etane Additives segment of our business will cargito decline
as the last remaining countries that continueltmal EL for use in automotive gasoline move awaynirleaded
gasoline. We expect that we will cease all saleBHif for use in automotive gasoline in 2012, arat tlie will continue
to impair the Octane Additives business goodwitilwr prior to that point. However, we have suabeg in
implementing our strategic plan of creating suéfidigrowth in the Fuel Specialties and Active Cleaitsi segments of
our business to more than offset the decline ifbene Additives business.
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We use a variety of raw materials and chemicatsimmanufacturing and blending processes and leethes/ sources of
these are adequate for our current operations.rRa@rials account for a substantial portion of vwvanable
manufacturing costs. These materials are, witlexoeption of ethylene in Germany, readily availdbden more than
one source. We use long-term contracts (generatlyfixed costs and escalation terms) to help emnswailability,
continuity of supply and manage the risk of cost@éases for some raw materials with commodity swidpsertheless,
raw materials are subject to cost fluctuationswwadnay be exposed to risk as costs of these raerialgtincrease as a
result of factors that are not within our control.

We are subject to extensive regulation by locakestfederal and foreign governmental authoriteh vith respect to
the methods by which we manufacture and marketymtscand how we conduct our business. In that deges are
exposed to risks that we may incur liabilities @odts in order to conform to required regulationsidhe event that w
fail to comply with any laws or regulations. We aterently the subject of investigations by the Lhf&d United
Kingdom government authorities relating to cert@spects of our international operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our objective is to clearly present our financrdbrmation in a manner that enhances the undeiisiguod our sources
of earnings and cash flows together with our finalngosition. We aim to achieve this by disclosinfprmation
required by the SEC together with further inforraatthat provides insight into our businesses.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations discusses Irewsp
consolidated financial statements which have beepagsed in accordance with accounting principleseggly accepte
in the United States of America. The preparatiothete financial statements requires managemenake estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdssgts and liabilities and the disclosure of ogaint assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeantsl the reported amounts of revenues and expduoseg the reporting
period. Management evaluates on an on-going basestimates and judgments. Management basesinsats and
judgments on historical experience and on varigbsrdactors that are believed to be reasonablenthe
circumstances, the results of which form the bisisnaking judgments about the carrying valuesssess and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results may differ from theséesties under different
assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of the NotesigoGonsolidated Financial Statements includes arargnof the
significant accounting policies and methods usetiépreparation of the financial statements.

Our consolidated financial statements and suppléngdata disclose our accounting principles aedntiethods and

estimates used in the preparation of those coraelidfinancial statements. We believe those statenaad disclosure
represent fairly the operating results and findrmmasition of the Company. The purpose of this iporbf our report is
to further emphasize some of the more critical aweaere a significant change in
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facts and circumstances in our operating and fia&eavironment could cause a change in resultgpefations or
financial position. The policies and estimates thatCompany considers the most critical in terfrsubjectivity and
judgment of assessment are provided be

Contingencies

We are subject to legal, regulatory and other prdogys and claims. The Company discloses informatamcerning
contingent liabilities in respect of these claims @roceedings for which an unfavorable outcommase than remote.
We recognize liabilities for these claims and pealirgs as appropriate based upon the probabildyeatimability of
losses and to fairly present, in conjunction wita tlisclosures of these matters in our consolid@atadcial statements,
management’s view of our exposure. We review ontbtey claims and proceedings with external couasel
appropriate to assess probability and estimatéssef The Company will recognize within sellingngeal and
administrative expenses a liability related torosiand proceedings at such time as an unfavorabterne becomes
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimMieeh the reasonable estimate is a range themzeapliability
will be the best estimate within the range. If meoaint in the range is a better estimate than amgr@mount the
minimum amount of the range will be recognized. Toenpany recognizes its legal and other relatetépstonal
expenses within selling, general and administragx@enses as and when the associated courseaf ectiommitted
to.

We re-evaluate these assessments each quartenewasd significant information becomes availdbldetermine
whether a liability should be recognized or if axysting liability should be adjusted. The actuastoof ultimately
resolving a claim or proceeding may be substagtdifferent from the amount of the recognized liggpi In addition,
because it is not permissible to recognize a lighiintil the loss is both probable and estimalrlesome cases there
may be insufficient time to recognize a liabilitsigr to the actual incurrence of the loss (upordietrand judgment at
trial, for example, or in the case of a quickly aggted settlement).

As discussed in Note 18 of the Notes to the Codat#d Financial Statements, the Company is sutgdgiS.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), U.Sddenent of Justice and United Kingdom Serious é@tfice
investigations in respect of the OFFP and FCPAdadition, in 2005 we made voluntary disclosure asgible
violations of the Cuban Assets Control Regulatitanthe U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control regagdransactions
and activities engaged in Cuba by certain of our-ddS. subsidiaries. Management believes thatiatithe it is still
not able to predict with any certainty how the WbBUnited Kingdom governments will calculate thenber of
possible violations of these laws and regulatitias may have occurred or the nature or amountmdlpes to which
we could be subject. Because of the uncertainisgaated with the ultimate outcome of these ingagbns and the
costs to the Company of responding and particigatithem, no assurance can be given that the atiiroosts and
sanctions that may be imposed upon us will not lzareterial adverse impact on our results of oersit financial
position and cash flows.
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Environmental Liabilities

Remediation provisions at December 31, 2009 amdunt826.1 million and relate principally to our itéd Kingdom
site. The Company records environmental liabilitidgen they are probable and costs can be estimegsdnably. The
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplganth
environmental legislation in the relevant countrilse Company views the costs of vacating our riited Kingdom
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfueber determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tmadarly in the market for aviation gasoline, thaxists such
uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flowd thia not possible to estimate these flows sidghdy reliably to
recognize a provision.

Goodwill

The Company reviews goodwill annually for impairmear between years if events occur or circumstaicbange
which suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatsdgall as at
December 31 each year. In reviewing for any impairhcharge the fair value of the reporting unitderying the
segments is estimated using an after tax cashrfletihodology based on management’s best availatiheatss at that
time. The key assumptions underpinning these caious include future revenue growth, gross marginsthe
Company’s weighted average cost of capital. At Dewmer 31, 2009 we had $139.2 million of goodwillateig to our
Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicals businessethiddate we performed annual impairment reviend concluded
that there has been no impairment of goodwill Bpeet of those reporting segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octanedid/es market globally, as the Company makes s#l€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining sales@nesponding cash flows that can be derived ftoerQctane
Additives business are reduced, and accordinglydineralue of the Octane Additives reporting ugiteduced. As a
result the Company determined that quarterly inmpairt reviews be performed from January 1, 2004asyd
impairment charge arising be recognized in theveglequarter. As a result of the Octane Additivepairment reviews
performed during 2009, 2008 and 2007 impairmentggsof $2.2 million, $3.7 million and $12.1 miliprespectively
have been recognized. These charges are non-caatuine and have no impact on taxation. There.® $filion of
goodwill remaining at December 31, 2009 which edab the Octane Additives business. Given thetguaand
predictability of the remaining future cash flowsrh the Octane Additives business the Company eésgeodwill
impairment charges to be recognized in the incaEaterment on an approximate straight-line basisé¢odmber 31,
2012. Effective October 1, 2008 the Company extdnideestimate for the future life of the Octanedfidbes business
from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

We believe that the assumptions used in our arangijuarterly impairment reviews are reasonabletha they are
judgmental, and that variations in any of the agsttons may result in materially different calcutats of impairmen
charges, if any.
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Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization

At December 31, 2009 we had $23.7 million of inthtes that are discussed in Note 9 of the NotekedConsolidated
Financial Statements. These intangible asseter@atll of our business segments and are beingtaen straight-line
over periods of up to 13 years. We continually sssee markets and products related to these iblasgas well as
their specific carrying values, and have concluithed these carrying values and amortization peniedsin
appropriate. We also evaluate these intangiblearfgrpotential impairment when events occur orueiistances chan
which suggest that an impairment may have occutfedents occur or circumstances change it magiplyscause a
reduction in periods over which these intangiblesaamortized or result in a non-cash impairmera pbortion of the
intangibles’ carrying value. A reduction in amodtin periods would have no effect on cash flows.

Pensions

The Company’s principal pension arrangement israributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plaodvering a
number of its current and former employees in thedd Kingdom though it does also have other munchller pensiol
arrangements in the U.S. and overseas. The P&nsisd to new entrants without trustee discretioh has a large
number of deferred and current pensioners. At Déeer81, 2009 the underlying plan asset value aop&ed Benefit
Obligation (“PBO”) were $671.8 million and $796.0llron, respectively, resulting in a deficit of $42 million.

Movements in the underlying plan asset value an@ B dependent on actual return on investmentpaydwards ¢
well as our assumptions in respect of the discoatet annual member mortality rates, future retur@mssets, future pi
escalation, future pension increases and futulatiof. A change in any one of these assumptionfldmpact the pla
asset value, PBO and pension cost recognized imt¢bene statement. Such changes could adversepcingor results
of operations and financial position. A 0.25% changeither the discount rate assumption, or lefgkice inflation
assumption, would change the PBO by approximat2yillion and the net pension charge for 2010 fizgraximately
$1.8 million.

Further disclosure is provided in Note 6 of theédoto the Consolidated Financial Statements
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance and Uncertai Income Tax Positions

At December 31, 2009, we had a valuation allowaggregating $4.4 million against all of our foretgm credit carry
forwards deferred tax asset. The valuation allowaequires an assessment of both negative anaveosiidence
when measuring the need for a valuation allowa@®txgective evidence, such as operating results guha most recel
periods, is given more weight than our expectatafrfsiture profitability, which are inherently untain. In our view,
there are uncertainties around whether the foreigmreredits carry forwards will be utilized in futuperiods and this
represents sufficient negative evidence to recquivaluation allowance. We intend to maintain a &aan allowance
until sufficient positive evidence exists to sugpbe realization of such an asset.

35



Table of Contents

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves éwating uncertainties in the application of compiax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for anticipated tax auditues based on our estimate of whether, and thetexterhich, additional
taxes will be required. If we ultimately determiih@at payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weeseethe liability
and recognize a tax benefit during the period iictvive determine that the liability is no longecassary.

We also recognize tax benefits to the extent thatmore likely than not that our positions wi# Bustained when
challenged by the taxing authorities. To the extemprevail in matters for which liabilities havedn established, or
are required to pay amounts in excess of our iteds] our effective tax rate in a given period nieymaterially
affected. An unfavorable tax settlement may reqeérgh payments and result in an increase in oectefé tax rate in
the year of resolution. A favorable tax settlenmealy be recognized as a reduction in our effecaxeate in the year
resolution. We report interest and penalties rdlédeuncertain income tax positions as income taxesadditional
information regarding uncertain income tax posgieee Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated EiabStatements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations — Fiscal 2009 compared to el 2008:

The following table providing operating income Igporting business also provides the comparativdtsesf
operations in 2008 and 2007.

2009 2008 2007
(in millions)
Net sales
Fuel Specialtie $ 422.7 $ 440.¢ $ 374.¢
Active Chemicals 130.2 138.: 133.¢
Octane Additive: 45.€ 61.z 94.C

$ 598.t $ 640.f $ 602.

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $ 1472 $ 145.¢ $ 124.7
Active Chemicals 26.E 12. 24.¢
Octane Additive: 15.z 28.z 48.1

$ 189.: $ 186.4 $ 197.4

Operating Income

Fuel Specialtie $ 814 $ 80.C $ 63.€
Active Chemicals 8.8 (5.0 6.1
Octane Additive: (44.9) 1.2 19.€
Pension charg (6.9 (2.9 (4.€)
Corporate cost (13.9) (24.9) (22.0)
Restructuring charg (2.9 (2.1 (3.0
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (3.7 (12.1)
Profit on dispose — 0.4 —

Total operating incom $ 20.7 $ 43¢ $ 47.¢
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(in millions except ratios) 2009 2008 Change

Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $422.7 $ 440.¢ $ (18.2) -4%

Active Chemicals 130.Z 138.: (8.2) -6%

Octane Additive: 45.€ 61.: (15.%) -26%
$ 598.t $ 640.5 $ (42.0) -7%

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $147.2 $ 145.¢ $ 1€ +1%

Active Chemicals 26.€ 12.5 14.¢ +114%

Octane Additive: 15.c 28.2 (13.0 -46%
$ 189.< $ 186.4 $ 26 +2%

Gross margin (%)

Fuel Specialtie 34.8 33.0 +1.8

Active Chemicals 20.6 9.0 +11.6

Octane Additive: 33.6 46.2 -12.6

Aggregate 31.6 29.1 +2.5

Operating expense:

Fuel Specialtie $ (63.€) $ (63.9) $ (0.3 +0%

Active Chemicals (16.€) (16.7) (0.5 +3%

Octane Additive: (59.0 (23.9) (35.6) +152%

Pension charg (6.4 (2.9 4.1 +17¢%

Corporate cost (13.9) (24.9) 11.¢ -47%

$(158.9  $(130.0 $ (28.9  +22%

Fuel Specialties

Net salesthe year on year decrease of 4% was spread abmssarkets in which we operate as followthe- Americas
(down 1%), EMEA (down 3%), ASPAC (down 3%) and A\down 26%). This reduction in revenue was dukveer
selling prices and product mix (down 2 percentagatp), the unfavorable impact of exchange rates/(d1 percentac
point) together with reduced volumes focused inrmn-core Avtel business (down 1 percentage point).

* Americas benefited from higher volumes (up 1 petiaga point) offset by a poorer price and product mi
(down 2 percentage points). The revenue decreas¢h@aesult of passing on raw material cost dseto
our customers

» Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) net salesen@ unfavorably impacted by weaker price and prbduc
mix (down 4 percentage points) due to passing wnnaterial cost reductions, the unfavorable impdct
exchange rates (down 2 percentage points), offsgtdoeased volumes (up 3 percentage poi
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» The Asia-Pacific region ("ASPAC”) revenues fell dioea poorer price and product mix (down 3 peragata
points).

e TEL for use in aviation gasoline (“Avtel”) saw umblumes decline by 31 percentage points, primalilg to
the timing of shipments, offset by a richer pricel groduct mix (up 5 percentage poin

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 1.8 percentage poiimgrily reflects continued declines in raw madeéri
costs and our ability to hold prices relativelyrfioffset by a lower proportion of higher margin A\vsales.

Operating expensesperating expenses held firm, as the favorable ainplexchange rates on our European cost bas
denominated in European Union euro and British pdaterling, offset increased research and developseenses
and personnel-related costs.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe year on year decline of 6% was spread acressénkets in which we operate as follows — the Acasr
(down 8%), EMEA (down 9%) and ASPAC (up 23%). Ttkexline in revenues was due to the unfavorable ¢tngpfa
exchange rates (down 8 percentage points) and lesvemes (down 3 percentage points), offset by owed pricing
and product mix (up 5 percentage points).

» The Americas experienced a fall due to volumes (db@ percentage points) and the unfavorable impfact
exchange rates (down 5 percentage points) parbéfiet by an improvement to pricing and produck oip 13
percentage points). The volume reduction was cabgéower sales in Custom Manufacturing as we have
exited some low volume, low margin business in thatket.

» EMEA experienced a fall due to the unfavorable iotjpd exchange rates (down 10 percentage pointk) an
weaker pricing and product mix (down 1 percentagatp offset by higher volumes (up 2 percentagatsd.
The impact of exchange rates is due to a largegptiop of sales being European Union euro and ®rigiounc
sterling denominate

* Our ASPAC business growth in the year has beerdidy volumes (up 23 percentage points) and arriche
price and product mix (up 9 percentage points)edfiiy the unfavorable impact of exchange rates (d@w
percentage points

Gross marginthe year on year increase of 11.6 percentage pafiests the impact of improved pricing, a shiftasy
from lower-margin sales, the favorable impact of raaterial cost reductions and better utilizatiod ananufacturing
efficiencies in our plants.

Operating expensethe year on year increase of 3% is due to the costisred complying with REACH in the
European Union.
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Octane Additives

Net salesnet sales declined 26% due to lower volumes (daBvpezcentage points) together with a slightly weake
sales mix (down 3 percentage points). In both 20092008 sales were focused in the Middle Easimnch.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease in gross margin of & deptage points primarily reflects the lower TEL
production volumes on the fixed cost base at tihesElere Port, United Kingdom manufacturing site.

Operating expensescreased by $35.6 million from $23.4 million to%6 million. Excluding the impact of the $40.2
million accrual for anticipated settlement of thEFE? and FCPA investigations, and the impact ofllagd other
professional expenses of $12.9 million and $15J5aniin 2009 and 2008, respectively, relatinghege investigation
the year on year decrease in operating expense$2u@snillion or 25% primarily in respect of reddcselling costs.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension chargethis non-cash pension charge increased by $4.lomtith $6.4 million despite a decrease in the
underlying current service cost. This increasedgarimarily reflects a lower expected future retan plan assets.

Corporate costscorporate costs fell by $11.6 million due to a $2itlion gain on stock options forfeited upon
resignation of the Company’s former CEO and a $#lbon prior years’ United Kingdom sales tax settlent in 2009;
and $3.9 million of advisory and financing costpexsed in 2008 in relation to two large potenttajuasitions that the
Company decided not to pursue. The remaining rezhgtelate to the favorable impact of exchangesran the
predominantly British pound sterling cost baseaimdem with tight cost controls.

Restructuring chargerestructuring costs are comprised of the following:

200¢ 200¢
(in millions)
Separation agreement with the former CEO —
$1.3 $
Relocation of a U.S. sales and administration itgcil —
0.7
Dissolution costs related to a non-trading foresghsidiary —
0.4
Reduction in EMEA headcou 0.2 0.7
United Kingdom site clearant 0.1 0.€
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesiléze Port site —
0.2
U.S. site clearance —
0.3
Reduction in Americas headcount —
0.z
$2.8 $2.1

Amortization of intangible assetthe amortization charge has declined by $2.7 milfrom $7.4 million to $4.7 milliol
due to a reduction in the amortization charge eellab the
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agreements with Ethyl Corporation. The reductiothésresult of an extension to the estimated fuiteef our Octane
Additives business and the $6.3 million reductioimitangible assets recognized in 2008 for contelated provisions
no longer deemed necessary.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2009 charge was lower than that recognize@@8 primarily
due to the higher operating income and associatsil ffows in 2008. Effective October 1, 2008 weatpd the
estimates used in the detailed forecast modelltnilede impairment charges to reflect the Compamxtended estime
for the future life of our Octane Additives busiadsom December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

Profit on disposalin May 2008 the Company recognized $0.4 millionfipfollowing the disposal of surplus U.S. real
estate.

Interest expense (nethe net interest expense increased by $0.6 mitidg6.0 million in 2009 reflecting the
accelerated writeff of $0.2 million of unamortized deferred financests from the previous finance facility, an iras
in the deferred finance costs amortization chaofjewing our February 2009 refinancing, lower reision the
Companys cash balances in a weaker investment market diysewer interest expense on our finance facilityeres
expense on our finance facility benefited from Uh&se interest rates and gross debt declining leettie comparative
periods.

Other net income/(expens®}her net income of $3.6 million in 2009 relatedd®5m of net foreign exchange gains
$0.1m of net sundry other income. In 2008 otherexpense of $19.3 million related to net foreignteange losses of
$19.0 million and net sundry other expenses of $lBon.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for inmpeent of Octane Additives business goodwill and may
not be available on the anticipated settlemen¢gpect of the OFFP and FCPA investigations. Thas’'géncome tax
has also been impacted by the adjustment of indarmprovisions as a result of the settlement dlageUnited
Kingdom tax positions. Accordingly we believe thia@ change in the effective rate of tax to 65.0%009 from 33.3%
in 2008 is best explained by adjusting for thesarges. This adjusted effective tax rate has deeddag 4.5 percentage
points between the comparative periods primariky thuthe positive impact of taxable profits in di#nt geographical
locations. Further details are given in Note 7haf Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2009 2008

(in millions)
Income before income tax $ 18.: $ 18.¢
Add back OFFP/FCPA anticipated settlement acc 40.z —
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyall 2.2 3.7

$ 60.7 $ 22¢
Income taxe: $ 11.¢ $ 6.2
Add back adjustment of income tax provisit 2.2 —

$ 14.:- $ 6.2
Adjusted effective tax rai 23.2% 27.%
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Results of Operations — Fiscal 2008 compared to [esl 2007:

(in millions except ratios)

Net sales

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:

Gross margin (%)
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:
Aggregate

Operating expense:
Fuel Specialtie
Active Chemicals
Octane Additive:
Pension charg
Corporate cost

Fuel Specialties

2008

$ 440.¢
138.:
61.c

$ 640.5

$ 145.¢
12.5
28.c

$ 186.<

33.0

9.0
46.2
20.1

$ (63.9)
(16.1)
(23.2)

(2.3)
(24.5)

$(130.0)

Change

2007
$ 374.¢ $ 66.2
133.¢ 4.t
94.( (32.7)
$ 602.4 $ 38.1
$ 124.; $ 20.€
24.€ (12.2)
48.1 (19.9)
$197.¢ $(11.0)
33.3 -0.3
18.4 -9.4
51.2 -5.0
32.8 -3.7
$ (590 $ 4.9
(17.7) 1.C
(14.€) (8.6)
(4.6) 2.3
(22.0) (2.9
$(117.5  $(12.5)

+18%
+3%
-35%

+6%

+17%
-49%
-41%

-6%

+7%
-6%
+58%
-50%
+13%

+11%

Net salesthe year on year increase of 18% was spread attr@ssarkets in which we operate as follows — the
Americas (up 18%), EMEA (up 18%), ASPAC (up 23%0 #&vtel (up 9%). This growth was due to volume Wp
percentage points), price and product mix (up tg@age points) and the favorable impact of exchaates (up 1

percentage point).

* Americas delivered strong sales of static dissigatabricity improvers and cetane number improvém®wth
was focused in volume (up 10 percentage points)ygamcher price and product mix (up 8 percentagetpp

* EMEA net sales increased by 18% driven by strotessaf performance, refinery and light heating oll
additives. Growth was focused in volume (up 9 patiage points), price and product mix (up 6 perapnta

points) and the favorable impact of exchange ratps3 percentage point:
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» ASPAC benefited from strong sales of refinery addg and diesel detergents. Growth was focusedlumve
(up 22 percentage points) and price and product{ufxl percentage poin

» Auvtel business growth was primarily due to a rickalles mix (up 11 percentage points) offset by fovadume
(down 2 percentage points). The results in theespwnding period in 2007 were positively impactedhe
more favorable pricing allowed, and the volumesl sohder the Ethyl settlemel

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 0.3 percentage po#iflsats both the lower proportion of higher margin
Avtel sales together with the adverse impact ofdoWEL production volumes on the fixed cost basthef
manufacturing site at Ellesmere Port, United Kingd&ross margins in the remainder of the marketsneed largely
constant as we successfully passed raw materialmmyeases onto our customers.

Operating expensefcreased by $4.3 million from $59.0 million to $83nillion. Excluding the impact of $1.9 millic
of one-time professional fees in 2007 the yearesr yncrease in operating expenses was $6.2 molidi%. The
underlying 11% increase was less than the 18% gabegh as we continued to leverage the infrastmacof this
business. This was achieved despite the adversectrofy until the latter months of 2008, the relatweakness of the
U.S. dollar on our European Union euro denominated base and higher personnel-related costsditi@d research
and development expenses were driven higher toosufips expanding business increasing by $1.6amilbr 15%
between the corresponding periods.

Active Chemicals

Net salesthe year on year increase of 3% was spread adresadrkets in which we operate as follows — the Acas
(up 5%), EMEA (down 1%) and ASPAC (up 28%). Thiswth was due to volume (up 2 percentage points)laad
favorable impact of exchange rates (up 2 percergages) offset by price and product mix (down tgaemtage point).

» Americas delivered strong sales of Fragrance Ingnésland Personal Care products. Growth was focdnse
volume (up 11 percentage points) offset by a poaree and product mix (down 4 percentage pointsl)the
unfavorable impact of exchange rates (down 2 péagenpoints)

» EMEA sales declined marginally despite the favaabiipact of exchange rates (up 5 percentage pa@ntsp
richer price and product mix (up 2 percentage gdioffset by lower volume (down 8 percentage pgints
Strong Personal Care and Polymer product salesafiset by lower Household, Industrial and Instdogl
product sales

* Our ASPAC business represented less than 10% aivaunell Active Chemicals business reflecting thdye
stage of its development. Notwithstanding thisesdlenefited from higher volumes (up 25 percenpagas)
in Fragrance Ingredients, Personal Care and Poy/preducts. This increase was assisted by thedbaleor
impact of exchange rates (up 1 percentage pointpaicher price and product mix (up 2 percentagetp).

42



Table of Contents

Gross marginthe year on year decline of 9.4 percentage po#iflsated price and product mix, primarily in respefc
the greater proportion in 2008 of lower margin pody sales, the significant increase in raw matenal energy costs
suffered across all the markets in which we opegatd the adverse impact from lower utilization amghufacturing
efficiencies in our U.S. and United Kingdom plants.

Operating expensethe year on year decrease in operating expense$M@snillion or 6%. This decrease was
achieved despite the 3% sales growth primarilytduewer personnel-related costs.

Octane Additives

Net salesnet sales and volumes both declined 35% in link thi¢ historic decline in this business. The declin
reflected a marginally poorer sales mix despite enaid price increases in 2008. In both 2008 and 2aes were
focused in the Middle East and Africa.

Gross marginthe year on year decrease in gross margin wasesd@mage points. Following the settlement regardin
the sales and marketing agreements (“TMASs”) to BELL effective April 1, 2007 the profit share withyl from this
business, which was charged within cost of goott§ seased. The cessation of the TMAs and moderate increases
achieved in 2008 favorably impacted gross margalemnited the adverse impact of the marginally po@ales mix ar
lower TEL production volumes on the fixed cost bakthe manufacturing site at Ellesmere Port, lthKéngdom.

Operating expensefcreased by $8.6 million from $14.8 million to $23nillion. Excluding the impact of legal and
other professional expenses of $15.5 million ané #illion 2008 and 2007, respectively, relatinghte OFFP and
FCPA investigations, the year on year decreasp@nating expenses was $2.3 million or 23% primanilyespect of
reduced selling costs.

Other Income Statement Captions

Pension (chargelthis non-cash charge reduced by $2.3 million bexauslike 2007, there was no amortization of net
actuarial losses required.

Corporate costsyear on year corporate costs increased $2.9 miliento the expensing of $3.9 million of advisory
and financing costs related to two large potemitajuisitions that the Company did not pursue. Was offset to some
extent, in the latter months of 2008, by the fabgampact of the relative strength of the U.Slalobn our
predominantly British pound sterling cost base.
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Restructuring chargerestructuring costs were comprised of the following

200¢ 2007
(in millions)

Reduction in EMEA headcou $0.7 $0.4
United Kingdom site clearan: 0.€ 1.z
Relocation of our European Headquarters to thesildge Port sit 0.2 0.&
U.S. site clearance —

0.3
Reduction in Americas headcount —

0.2

Additional payments in respect of the former CEO —
0.1

Sundry other restructuring —
0.5
$2.1  $3.C

Amortization of intangible assetthe amortization charge declined by a net $9.5anilfrom $16.9 million to $7.4
million. Of this reduction, $10.0 million was due the absence of the Veritel intangible asset arativn charge in
2008 since it was fully amortized as at Decembe2B0D7. This reduction was offset by a $0.5 millioorease in
amortization costs related to the Ethyl intangdset effective April 1, 2007.

Impairment of Octane Additives business goodthe 2008 charge was lower than that recognize®@Y primarily
due to the higher operating income and associatsil ftows in 2007. Effective October 1, 2008, wdatpd the
estimates used in the detailed forecast modelltnlede impairment charges to reflect the Compamxtended estime
for the future life of our Octane Additives busiadsom December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012.

Profit on disposalin May 2008 the Company recognized $0.4 millionfipfollowing the disposal of surplus U.S. real
estate.

Interest expense (nethe net interest charge decreased by $1.6 milid20D8 to $5.4 million. This was despite the
that average net debt increased by approximateipithdn between the corresponding periods from 8$élfion to $71
million. This decrease primarily reflected the fwt U.S. base interest rates declined betweeoatiesponding
periods and a $0.6 million reduction in the defeérisance costs amortization charge.

Other net income/(expens&):2008 other net expense of $19.3 million relatedet foreign exchange losses of $19.0
million and net sundry other expenses of $0.3 anilliThe net foreign exchange losses related te$oss foreign
currency forward exchange contracts and lossesoslation of net assets in our European busineds2o7 million

and $6.3 million, respectively. In 2007 other matame comprised $7.5 million in respect of netiffmeexchange gains
offset by $0.6 million of other sundry expensese Tiet foreign exchange gains related to lossesmigh currency
forward exchange contracts and gains on translafioet assets in our European business of $0liomdnd $8.2
million, respectively.

Income taxestax relief is not available on the charge for impeent of Octane Additives business goodwill and
accordingly we believed that the change in thectffe rate of tax to
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33.3% in 2008 from 38.2% in 2007 was best explalmeddjusting for this non-deductible charge. Tddgusted
effective tax rate decreased 2.5 percentage poattgeen the corresponding periods primarily duéopositive impau
of taxable profits in different geographical locaus, partially offset by foreign income inclusions.

(in millions) 2008 2007
Income before income tax $18.¢ @
Add back Impairment of Octane Additives businessdyall 3.7 12.1
E $59.¢
Income taxe: m @
Adjusted effective tax rai ?.E% E%

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working Capital

(in millions) 2009 2008

Total current asse $282.¢ $ 256.¢
Total current liabilities (179.9) (188.])
Working capital 103.( 68.t
Less prepaid income tax — (10.7)
Less cash and cash equivale (68.€) (13.9)
Add back accrued income tax 6.2 —

Add back sho-term borrowing 10.C 73.C
Add back current portion of plant closure provis: 3.€ 4.1
Add back current portion of unrecognized tax bda: 5.C 9.2
Add back current portion of deferred inco 0.1 0.1
Adjusted working capite $ 59.7 $ 130.¢

In 2009 our adjusted working capital decreasedty&million (defined by the Company as accountgirable,
inventories, prepaid expenses, accounts payabla@mded liabilities rather than total current és$ess total current
liabilities). The $52.9 million increase in accosipiyable and accrued liabilities is primarily doi¢he $40.2 million
accrual for the anticipated settlement of the OBRR® FCPA investigations. The $0.6 million decreassccounts
receivable and prepaid expenses was due to thegiafishipments in our Octane Additives offset oy substantially
increased fourth quarter trading in our Active Ciels business. The $17.7 million decrease in itovées was
focused in our Octane Additives and Fuel Specmliigsinesses as we managed production levels tofloneteations it
demand.

Cash
At December 31, 2009 and 2008 we had cash andecpstalents of $68.6 million and $13.9 million, pestively.
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Debt

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyence facility which provides for borrowings kg of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 milliomé revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. This new financdita replaced the
previous finance facility which was in place at Bexber 31, 2008.

The Company'’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andtlouar operational
and financial flexibility. The facility obliges thenders to comply with a request for utilizatidrfinance unless there
an event of default outstanding. Events of defardtdefined in the finance facility and include atenial adverse
change to our business, properties, assets, fadasandition or results of operations. The facitntains a number of
restrictions that limit our ability, amongst otltbings, and subject to certain limited exceptidasncur additional
indebtedness, pledge our assets as security, gearalpligations of third parties, make investmemtslergo a merger
or consolidation, dispose of assets, or matercinge our line of business.

In addition, the facility also contains terms whidibreached, would result in the loan becomingaseable on demand.
It requires, among other matters, compliance with financial covenant ratios. These requiremeragq By the ratio of
net debt to EBITDA shall not be greater than 2d&nd (2) the ratio of EBITDA to net interest shail ibe less than
4.0:1. EBITDA is a non U.S. GAAP measure of liqtydilefined in the finance facility. Management beés that the
Company has not breached these covenants throutjteopériod to December 31, 2009, and expectsttbneach thes
covenants for the next 12 months. The financeifgdd secured by a number of fixed and floatingrges over certain
assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had $51.0omitf debt outstanding under its finance faciéityd was in
compliance with all financial covenants thereineTebt maturity profile as at December 31, 2008uiting the
finance facility, is set out below:

(in millions)

2010 $ 10.C

2011 15.C

2012 26.C
51.C

Current portion of lon-term debr (10.0

Long-term debt, net of current portic $41.C

Outlook

At December 31, 2009, the Company had cash andecpstialents of $68.6 million and debt of $51.0liol resulting
in net cash of $17.6 million. We continue to expée position to reverse and net debt to increggaificantly in future
guarters based on the need to build
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working capital from recent low levels, accelerate spending on research and development, inceeaseapital
expenditures and pension contributions, fund tobermeUnited Kingdom tax settlement and begin makiagh
payments once we reach a final settlement of theRO&nd FCPA investigations. Accordingly, our focostinues to b
on both generating and preserving cash.

The Company expects to fund its operations ovkzaat the next 12 months from a combination of afieg cash flow
and its existing finance facility. Under the finarfacility we have the ability to draw down the $1fillion revolving
credit facility, of which $1 million was drawn dovat December 31, 2009, so long as we are in congdiavith all
financial covenants therein.

Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits

The Company recognizes the funded status of defieedfit post-retirement plans on consolidatedrizaaheets, and
changes in the funded status in comprehensive iacdime measurement date of the plan’s funded stathe same as
the Company’s fiscal year-end.

Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitmentSetember 31, 2009 and the effect of those obbgaton future
cash flows:-

2011+ 201z Thereafter
(in millions) Total 2010 12 14

Operating activitie:

Planned funding of pension obligatic $372 $74 $14¢ $14¢ $ —
Remediation paymen 23.7 2.7 7.4 2.1 11.t
Severance paymer 0.2 0.2 — — —
Operating lease commitmer 6.5 1.€ 2.1 1.C 1.6
Raw material purchase obligatic 2.€ 2.€ — — —
Interest payments on de 5.7 3.1 2.€ — —
Unrecognized tax benefi — — — — —
Financing activities

Long-term debt obligation 51.C 10.C 41.C — —
Dividend — — — — —
Investing activities

Capital commitment 1.7 1.7 — — —
Total $128.¢ $29.: $68.C $18.C $ 13.2

Operating activities

The amounts related to the pension plan referddikily levels of Company funding of the Unitedngdom
contributory defined benefit pension plan (the fP)aand certain pension commitments to senior egg#s. It is not
meaningful to predict an amount after five yeanesithere are numerous uncertainties includingéuteturn on assel
pay escalation,
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pension increases, inflation and employment levidgie. Company has announced closure of the Plartuoefservice
accrual with effect from March 31, 2010 and acaogtli we anticipate a curtailment charge of appratity $10
million will be recognized in 2010. The Companynsegotiations with the trustees to fund the Rlaficit over a
number of years, but currently expects its annashaontribution for 2010 to increase to approxétya$20 million.

Remediation payments represent those cash flowshth& ompany is currently obligated to pay in ezgpf current
and former facilities. It does not include any detmnary remediation costs that the Company mapsé to incur.

Severance payments represent those cash flowthéh&@ompany is currently obligated to pay in respéseverance
costs associated with exit or disposal activities post employment benefits.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily ticefépace, motor vehicles and items of office eapipt which are
expected to be renewed and replaced in the nomoase of business.

Raw material purchase obligations relate to cettaigterm raw material contracts which have been entetedoy the
Company that stipulate fixed or minimum quantite®e purchased; fixed, minimum, or variable casvsions; and
the approximate timing of the transaction. Purclwsdmgations exclude agreements that are cancelatieut penalty.

The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedgesagia@nrisk from variable interest rates on cered@ments of its
long-term debt. The estimated payments includebertable above reflect the payments on the variel@dment of the
facility, and the mark to market valuations of theerest rate swaps. Estimated commitment feealaceincluded and
interest income is excluded.

Due to the uncertainty regarding the nature ofatadtits, particularly those which are not currenihglerway, it is not
meaningful to predict the outcome of obligationated to unrecognized tax benefits. Further disoi®ss provided in
Note 7 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandiale®nents

Financing activities

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyence facility which provides for borrowings kg of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 milliomé revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. The term loanpayable as follows:
$10 million is due on February 5, 2010; $15 millam February 7, 2011; and $25 million on Februar(a.2. At
December 31, 2009 long-term debt comprised a $8mterm loan and $1 million drawn under the riiag credit
facility.

The Company has historically paid a semi-annuatidivd. All dividends are subject to approval by Buard of
Directors and accordingly no amounts are includeithé preceding table until such authorizationd@=urred.
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Investing activities

Capital commitments relate to certain capital ptgehat the Company has committed to undertake.
Environmental Matters and Plant Closures

The Company is subject to environmental laws imBthe countries in which it operates. Under agarévironmental
laws the Company is responsible for the remediadidmzardous substances or wastes at currenttyroerly owned
or operated properties.

Most of our manufacturing operations have been gotadl outside the U.S. and, therefore, any lighygértaining to th
investigation and remediation of contaminated priogeis likely to be determined under non-U.S..law

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontaminaiahdemolition projects on a regular basis. Fulgion is made
for those costs to which we are committed underrenmental laws. Full provision has been made tierdacommitted
costs of $26.1 million at December 31, 2009. Exjtenel against provisions was $1.5 million, $1.6lioi and $1.7
million in the years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respebtiv

We have also incurred personnel severance costaition to the management of the decline in thea@x Additives
market and the restructuring of the Fuel Specmhied Active Chemicals businesses. Total sevemxmenditure was
$2.1 million, $1.6 million and $2.0 million in theears 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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ltem 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company operates manufacturing and blendirilities; offices and laboratories around the wottthugh the
largest manufacturing facility is located in theildd Kingdom. The Company sells a range of FuecBiees, Active
Chemicals and Octane Additives to customers ardliaavorld. The Company uses floating rate debintanice these
global operations. Consequently, the Company igestiln business risks inherent in non-U.S. adgsitincluding
political and economic uncertainty, import and expionitations, and market risk related to changemmterest rates ar
foreign exchange rates. The political and econaisks are mitigated by the stability of the couedrin which the
Company'’s largest operations are located. Craditdj ongoing credit evaluation and account momitpprocedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.

The Company uses derivatives, including interdst savaps, commodity swaps and foreign currencydoivexchange
contracts, in the normal course of business to genaarket risks. The derivatives used in hedginiyites are
considered risk management tools and are not wsdchtling purposes. In addition, the Company entéo derivative
instruments with a diversified group of major ficéal institutions in order to monitor the expostweon-performance
of such instruments. The Company’s objective in agiamg exposure to changes in interest rates isibthe impact of
such changes on earnings and cash flows and to lmweeall borrowing costs. The Company’s objectivenanaging
the exposure to changes in foreign exchange ratesreduce volatility on earnings and cash flossoaiated with such
changes.

The Company offers fixed prices for some long-teates contracts. As manufacturing costs and rawmatg are
subject to variability the Company uses commodigyss to hedge the cost of some raw materials #discing
volatility on earnings and cash flows. The deriwasi are considered risk management tools and aresad for trading
purposes. The Company’s objective is to managexpesure to fluctuating costs of raw materials.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manageshtate exposure. As of December 31, 2009 thep@aoynhad
cash and cash equivalents of $68.6 million, no mamtdraft and long-term debt of $51.0 million. Thag-term debt
comprises $50.0 million senior term loan and $1illan drawn under the revolving credit facility.

In 2009 the Company entered into interest rate ssgapements to convert floating rate debt to fisetd that cover
$50.0 million of the remaining long-term debt (mding current portion) as at December 31, 2009%64f@ million. On
the basis that $50.0 million of the $51.0 milli@mg-term debt (including current portion) is hedgedinst interest
movements and that the Company would receive istterethe $68.6 million positive cash balances the interest
payable on unhedged debt of $1.0 million is largdfget by the interest receivable on positive daaslances which
have a similar maturity profile. On a gross baassuming no additional interest on the cash basrckypothetical
absolute change of 1% in U.S. base interest ratdésengross amount of these balances of $1.0 milioa one-year
period would not materially impact net income aadrcflows.
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The above does not consider the effect of inteneskchange rate changes on overall activity naragament action to
mitigate such changes.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates an element of its revenuesmanrs some operating costs in currencies ottaer the U.S.
dollar. The reporting currency of the Company & thS. dollar.

The Company evaluates the functional currency of @aporting unit according to the economic envinent in which
it operates. Several major subsidiaries of the Gommwperating outside of the U.S. have the U.Sadak their
functional currency due to the nature of the marketvhich they operate. In addition, the finangiasition and results
of operations of some of our foreign subsidiariesraported in the relevant local currency and tn@nslated to U.S.
dollars at the applicable currency exchange ratenfibusion in our consolidated financial statensent

The primary foreign currencies in which we havehaxge rate fluctuation exposure are the Europeaonl&uro and
British pound sterling. Changes in exchange ragdéaden these foreign currencies and the U.S. dellhaffect the
recorded levels of our assets and liabilitieshtdxtent such figures reflect the inclusion oéfgn assets and liabilities
that are translated into U.S. dollars for presémrtan our financial statements, as well as ouultef operations.

The Company’s objective in managing exposure teifpr currency fluctuations is to reduce earnings @ash flow
volatility associated with foreign currency ratenges. Accordingly, the Company enters into vargmrdgracts that
change in value as foreign exchange rates changetect the U.S. dollar value of its existing igrecurrency-
denominated assets, liabilities, commitments, asth dlows. The Company also uses foreign curreoyédrd
exchange contracts to offset a portion of the Comigaexposure to certain foreign currency-denonadakevenues so
that gains and losses on these contracts offsagelsan the U.S. dollar value of the related faneigrrency-
denominated revenues. The objective of the hedgiogram is to reduce earnings and cash flow vadlatglated to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The trading of our three business segments is émtigrnaturally hedged and accordingly changexahange rates
would not be material to our earnings or finanpiasition. Corporate costs however are largely denated in British
pound sterling. A 5% strengthening in the U.S. alodlgainst British pound sterling would increageoreed operating
income by approximately $1.2 million for a one-ypariod excluding the impact of any foreign currefarward
exchange contracts.

Where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has lnsed as an illustration, a 5% weakening woulehpeected to ha
the opposite effect on operating income.
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Raw Material Cost Risk

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals amifggnin our manufacturing and blending processesiwbf the raw
materials that we use are derived from petrochdrb@sed feedstocks which can be subject to penbdspid and
significant cost instability. These fluctuationscmst can be caused by political instability inpmbducing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global $ymd demand over which we have no or little colnte use long-
term contracts (generally with fixed costs and kdima terms) to help ensure availability, contiguwf supply and
manage the risk of cost increases and have erftedging arrangements for certain raw materialsgbutot typically
enter into hedging arrangements for all raw materc@nemicals or energy costs. Should costs ofmaterials,
chemicals or energy increase, and should we nablgeto pass on these cost increases to our custotihen operating
margins and cash flows from operating activitiesilddoe adversely impacted. Should raw materialscostrease
significantly, then the Company’s need for workgapital could increase which would adversely imgash flows
from operating activities.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimg
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Innggec Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated bedasheets and the related consolidated statemientsome,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows present faifyall material respects, the financial positidirmospec Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2009 and Decemb&0BB, and the results of their operations and tesh flows for
each of the three years in the period ended DeaeBih@009 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsounapinion, the Company maintained, in all matergspects,
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2009, based on criteria estaaliininternal
Control — Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrise Treadway Commission
(COSO0). The Company’s management is responsiblinése financial statements, for maintaining eifecinternal
control over financial reporting and for its asseest of the effectiveness of internal control ofireancial reporting,
included in “Management’s Report On Internal Con@®eer Financial Reporting” appearing in Iltem 9Atbis Form
10-K. Our responsibility is to express opinionstlese financial statements and on the Companyésnat control over
financial reporting based on our integrated aullite.conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Unitedt&s). Those standards require that we plan atidrpethe
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whigiénancial statements are free of material tatesnent and
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udits of the
financial statements included examining, on akasts, evidence supporting the amounts and disessa the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiplas used and significant estimates made by neanagt, and
evaluating the overall financial statement prederiaOur audit of internal control over financraporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control diraincial reporting, assessing the risk that aematweakness exisi
and testing and evaluating the design and operatffegtiveness of internal control based on thess=d risk. Our
audits also included performing such other proceslas we considered necessary in the circumstaieebelieve that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opsi

As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated FinduStetements, in 2009 the Company retrospectivabfied the
accounting for noncontrolling interests and effeetianuary 1, 2007 changed the manner in whiatcaunts for
income tax uncertainties.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pegption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A comfsimgernal control over financial reporting inckslthose policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenafcecords that, in reasonable detail, accurateti/fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets aahgany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thasaetions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
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financial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles, and that receiptisexpenditures of
the company are being made only in accordanceauthorizations of management and directors of tmepany; and
(i) provide reasonable assurance regarding prtemer timely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzavaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesés future periods are subject to the risk thatrads may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 19, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in_millions except share and per share data

Years ended December 3

2009 2008 2007

Net sales (Note & $ 598.t $ 640.t $ 602.
Cost of goods sol (409.2) (454.]) (405.0
Gross profit (Note 3 189.7 186.4 197.¢
Operating expense

Selling, general and administrati (142.5) (115.7) (103.9)

Research and developme (16.9) (14.¢) (13.6)
Restructuring charg (2.9 (2.1 (3.0
Amortization of intangible asse 4.7 (7.4 (16.9)
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{#\8) (2.2 (3.7 (12.1)
Profit on disposal (Note 1¢ — 0.4 —

(168.¢) (142.%) (149.5

Operating income (Note . 20.7 43.€ 47.C
Other net income/(expens 3.€ (219.9) 6.¢
Interest expens (6.3 (6.4) (9.5)
Interest incom 0.2 1.C 2.5
Income before income tax 18.2 18.€ 47.¢
Income taxes (Note ° (11.9) (6.9 (18.2)
Net income 6.4 12.¢ 29.€
Less net income attributable to the noncontroliirtgrest — (0.1 (0.2
Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 64 $ 12F $ 29.t
Earnings per share attributable to Innospec Inotg¥)

Basic $ 0.27 $ 0.5: $ 1.2¢

Diluted $ 0.2¢ $ 0.51 $ 1.a¢
Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousdNd$g 5)

Basic 23,64 23,59t 23,92(

Diluted 24,714 24,39 24,83¢
Dividend declared per common sh. $ 0.0t $ 0.1C $ 0.0¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in_millions except share and per share data

Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable (less allowance of $2.3 an8,$2spectively

Inventories
Finished good
Work in progres:
Raw materials

Total inventories
Prepaid expense
Prepaid income taxe

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment (Note
Goodwill - Octane Additives (Note ¢
Goodwill - Other (Note 8

Intangible assets (Note

Deferred finance costs (Note 1
Deferred income taxes (Note

Other norcurrent assel

Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Accrued income taxe
Shor-term borrowing (Note 12
Current portion of plant closure provisions (No®)
Current portion of unrecognized tax benefits (Not
Current portion of deferred income (Note :

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note :

Plant closure provisions, net of current portiomi@N12)
Unrecognized tax benefits, net of current portiiote 7)
Pension liability (Note 6

Other nor-current liabilities

Deferred income, net of current portion (Note
Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder’ Equity (Note 15)

Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 40,0@sb@res, issued 29,554,500 shi

Additional pait-in capital

Treasury stock (5,890,447 and 5,956,384 sharessatrespectively

Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbegements.

At December 31

2009

$ 68.¢
89.¢

81.t
1.5
37.€

120.¢
3.9

282.¢
50.€
6.8
139.2
23.7
1.9
36.€
11

$ 543.1

$ 50.2
104.<
6.3
10.C
8K

5.C

179.¢
41.C
24.t
14.4
124.%
0.7

0.3
285.¢
(64.2)
136.¢
(201.7)

157.¢

$ 543.1

2008

95.C

41.:

138.:
4.4
10.1

256.¢

139.2

$494.%

$ 55.
46.2

73.C
4.1
9.2

188.1

22.¢
25.¢
13.€
13.€

0.2
282.
(64.5)
131.€

(120.)

229.%

$494.:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)
Years ended December 3
2009 2008 2007
Cash Flows from Operating Activiti¢
Net income $ 6.4 $ 12¢ $ 29.¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 18.4 23.C 31.c
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwilb{&l8) 2.2 3.7 12.1
Deferred income taxe (2.4 (1.7 (4.6
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant andipqent — (0.9 —
Non-cash intangible asset other adjustmu — 6.3 —
Changes in working capite
Accounts receivable and prepaid exper 1.7 2.3 (14.5)
Inventories 18.¢ (8.6) (12.0
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 53.1 (9.9 12.4
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraagts (0.2) (2.5 (0.2)
Income taxes and other current liabilit 16.5 (17.2) (3.5
Movement on plant closure provisio 1.5 0.2 1.3
Movement on pension asset/(liabilit 0.2 (5.1 (2.9)
Stock option compensation chal 1.5 4.1 3.3
Movements on other n-current assets and liabiliti (30.5) 6.¢ —
Movement on deferred incon — — (2.9
Net cash provided by operating activit 87.4 14.4 47.¢
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Capital expenditure (7.2 9.1 (12.2)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipmet — 1.3 —
Acquisition of intangible asset (Note — — (28.9)
Net cash (used in) by investing activit (7.2) (7.9 (40.6)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Net (repayment)/receipt of revolving credit fagil 27.0 12.C (52.0
Repayment of term loz (55.0 (20.0 (15.0
Receipt of term loa 50.C — —
Payments on capital leas — — (0.1
Refinancing cost (3.7 (0.9 —
Excess tax benefit from stock based payment arraagts 0.1 2.t 0.2
Dividend paid (1.2 (2.9 (2.2)
Issue of treasury stoc 0.2 1.¢ 4.1
Repurchase of common sta — (20.5) (20.0
Noncontrolling interest dividends (pai — (0.7 (0.2
Net cash (used in) financing activiti (26.€) (17.0 (85.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 11 —
Net change in cash and cash equival 54.% (20.4 (77.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 13.¢ 24.¢ 101.¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 68.€ $ 13.¢€ $ 24:

Amortization of deferred finance costs of $2.0 roill (2008 — $0.5 million, 2007 — $1.1 million) fire year are included in depreciation and
amortization in the cash flow statement but inri@s$¢ in the income statement. Cash payments/raceipespect of income taxes and interest
are disclosed in Note 7 and Note 13, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbegements.



57



Table of Contents

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in_millions)

Additional Retained
Common Treasury ]
Paid-In Earnings
Stock Capital Stock
December 31, 200 $ 0.1 $ 281.7 $ (449 $ 97.¢
Net income attributable to
Innospec Inc — — — 29.t
Dividend ($0.09
per share® — — — (2.2
Derivatives® — — — —
Treasury stock rissued — (0.6) 6.5 —
Treasury stock
repurchase: — — (20.0 —
Stock option
compensation charg — (0.3 — —
Two-for-one commor
stock split @ 0.2 (0.2 — —
Cumulative effect o
adoption of ASC 74l — — — (3.2

Amortization of net

actuarial losses (Note

6) — — — (2.0)
Tax impact on

amortization of net

actuarial losse — — — 0.6
Actuarial net gains arisin

during the year (Note

6) — — — —
Tax impact on actuarii

net gains arising durin

the yeal — — — (2.0

Deferred taxe®)

Balance December 31, 20

$ (58.2)

$ 121¢%

Net income attributable to

Innospec Inc — — — 12.5
Dividend ($0.10

per share® — — — (2.9
Net CTA chang® — — — —
Derivatives® — —
Treasury stock rissuec — (0.9 3.8 —
Treasury stocl

repurchase: — — (10.5) —
Stock optior

compensation charg — 2.3 — —
Actuarial net losses arisi

during the year (Note

6) — — — —
Tax benefit on actuarial

net losses arising

during the yea — — — —

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0.2 $ 282f $ (64.9
Net income attributable 1
Innospec Inc — — — 6.4
Dividend ($0.05
per share® — — — (1.2
Net CTA chang® — — — —

$ 131

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive

Loss

$ (110.0)

2.0
(0.6)
55.

(15.9)

(2.9)

$ (72.7)

(15.9
0.9

(42.5)

12.C

$ (120.2)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
$ 225.(
29.t
(2.2
(0.9
5.¢
(20.0)

0.3)

(3.1)

55.(
(17.4)

$ 271.F
12.

(2.4)

(15.€)

(0.

3.4

(10.5)

(42.5)

12.C
$ 229.:
6.4

1.2)
6.6



Derivatives

Treasury stock rissued

Stock optior
compensation charg

Actuarial net losses arisi
during the year (Note
6)

Tax benefit on actuari
net losses arising
during the yea

Balance at December 31, 20

0.7 —
— 3.5 _ _
$ 02 $ 285¢ $ (642 $ 136.

58
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(124.9)

35.C

$ (201.9)

$

(124.9)
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(1) On June 18, 2007 the Company announced that theel Bé®irectors had approved -for-1 stock split to be effected in the form ¢
100% stock dividend. Stockholders of record asubf 8, 2007 received one additional share of Ineedpc. common stock for every sh
they owned on that date. The shares were distdarieJuly 20, 2007. Stock option holders receiveel additional option for every option
they held and the original exercise prices for¢hagstions were halved to reflect the stock splite Table above has been retrospectively
adjusted for this stock spl

(2) Changes in unrealized gains/(losses) on derivatsteuments, net of ta:

(3) Impact on deferred taxes of a change in the agsaciax rate on the unrecognized actuarial neekes $138.5 million ($97.0 million n
of deferred taxes) previously recognized in otlenprehensive los:

(4) Changes in cumulative translation adjustm

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INC OME

(in millions)
2009 2008 2007

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the years ead December 3:
Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 64 $ 12F $ 29t
Changes in cumulative translation adjustrr 6.€ (15.9) —
Unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative instrumamgs of tax 2.2 (0.9) (0.9
Amortization of net actuarial losses, net of tax$0f6 million — — 1.4
Actuarial net (losses)/gains arising during theryaat of tax (89.9) (30.9) 39.¢
Total comprehensive (loss)/incor $ (74.5) $ (35.0 $ 69.¢
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the yeaended December 3 2009 2008 2007
Cumulative translation adjustme $ (226 $(29.9 %139
Unrealized gains/(losses) on derivative instrumamgs of tax of $(0.3) million, $0.6

million and $0.2 million, respective! 0.9 (1.4) (0.5)
Unrecognized actuarial net losses, net of tax 8t Bénillion, $34.7 million and $22.

million, respectively (179.9) (89.6) (58.€)
Accumulated other comprehensive | $(201.0)  $(120.)  $(72.%)

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtbgements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of Operations

Innospec develops, manufactures, blends and mdtedtadditives and other specialty chemicals. @Qroducts are so
primarily to oil refineries and other chemical andustrial companies throughout the world. Our fagdlitives help
improve fuel efficiency, boost engine performannd eeduce harmful emissions. Our specialty chemipgadvide
effective technology-based solutions for our cusishprocesses or products focused in the Per&aral, Household,
Industrial & Institutional; and Fragrance Ingredemarkets. Principal product lines and reportaelgments are Fuel
Specialties, Active Chemicals and Octane Additives.

See Note 3 for financial information on the Compamgportable segments.
Note 2. Accounting Policies

Basis of PreparationThe consolidated financial statements have begraped in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Am@m’nd include all subsidiaries of the Company wliee Company
has a controlling financial interest. All signifitaintercompany accounts and balances have beamated upon
consolidation. All acquisitions are accounted feparchases and the results of operations of tpgirad businesses ¢
included in the consolidated financial statemerimfthe date of acquisition. The results of discw@d operations are
shown separately in the income statement. Centaisions have been made to prior year comparativegnform to
current year classifications, in respect of nebme attributable to the noncontrolling interest.

Use of Estimatesthe preparation of the consolidated financial stetets, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Arcerrequires management to make estimates and pissnsithat
affect the amounts reported in the consolidateghionl statements and accompanying notes. Actaaltsecould differ
from those estimates.

Cash Equivalentdnvestment securities with maturities of three nheriir less when purchased are considered to be
cash equivalents.

Accounts ReceivablThe Company records accounts receivable at nexabé value and maintains an allowance for
customers not making required payments. The Comgatgrmines the adequacy of the allowance by peaty
evaluating each customer receivable consideringastomer’s financial condition, credit history andrent economic
conditions.

Inventories:Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (FIF@hmod) or market price. Cost includes materialsoia
and an appropriate proportion of plant overheatie. Company accrues volume discounts where it isgirie that the
required volume will be attained and the amountlx@aneasonably estimated. The discounts are reg@sla reduction
in the cost of materials based on projected pueshaser the period of the agreement. Provisionaderfor slow-
moving or obsolete inventories as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Property, Plant and EquipmerProperty, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated udefat of the assets using the straight-line metfioe. cost of
additions and improvements are capitalized. Magatee and repairs are charged to expenses. When asssold or
retired the associated cost and accumulated depimtiare removed from the consolidated finandetesnents and ar
related gain or loss is included in earnings. T¢tereted useful lives of the major classes of deplde assets are as
follows:

Buildings 7 to 25 year:
Equipment 3 to 10 year:

Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetSoodwill and other intangible assets deemed to hal&finite lives are no
longer amortized but are subject to at least aninyadirment tests based on projected post-tax tasis discounted at
the Company’s weighted average cost of capital.drimeual measurement date for impairment testirigeo§oodwill
relating to the Fuel Specialties and Active Chemsibaisinesses is December 31. Octane Additivesessigoodwill is
tested for impairment at the end of each quarterex¥pected the decline in the Octane Additives etdrks resulted in
quarterly impairment charges being incurred fromfithst quarter of 2004 onwards. It is highly likehat further
guarterly charges will be incurred in future yeasshe market continues to decline. The impairrestis of the
goodwill relating to the Fuel Specialties and Aeti@hemicals businesses have indicated that theernsquirement to
recognize an impairment charge in respect of thawill. Other intangible assets deemed to havgeflives continue
to be amortized using the straight-line method ¢keir estimated useful lives and tested for angmimal impairment
when events occur or circumstances change whiajestighat an impairment may have occurred.

Deferred Finance CostThe costs relating to debt financing are capitdlizeparately disclosed in the balance sheets
and amortized using the effective interest metheat the expected life of the debt financing fagilit

Impairment of Lon-Lived AssetsThe Company reviews the carrying value of its ldmgd assets, including buildings
and equipment, whenever changes in circumstanggesuthat the carrying values may be impairedrdier to
facilitate this test the Company groups togetheetsat the lowest possible level for which cast finformation is
available. Undiscounted future cash flows expetde@sult from the assets are compared with theyiogrvalue of the
assets and if they are lower an impairment loss lbeaecognized. The amount of the impairment leske difference
between the fair value and the carrying value efdbsets. Fair values are determined using posiatxflows
discounted at the Company’s weighted average dastpotal.

Derivative InstrumentsThe Company uses various derivative instrumentsdeg forward currency contracts,
options, interest rate swaps and commodity swapsaitage certain exposures. These instruments enedrninto unde
the Company’s corporate risk management policyitormze exposure and are not for speculative trggiarposes.
The
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Company recognizes all derivatives as either asgdigbilities in the consolidated balance shewt mmeasures those
instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair gatiderivatives that are not designated as hedgekx not meet the
requirements for hedge accounting, are recognizedinings. Derivatives are tested for effectivermasa quarterly
basis, and marked to market. The ineffective portibthe derivative’s change in value is recogniredarnings. The
effective portion is recognized in other compreenoss until the hedged item is recognized imiggys. The
Company employs interest rate swaps which conlaatihg rate debt on the senior term loan to fixete. These have
been designated as cash flow hedges of the unagnariable rate obligation. At the end of the terinthe swap
arrangements, the cumulative gain or loss willdassified to the income statement. The inteagstswaps have been
recorded as a noturrent liability in the balance sheet. The Compalsp hedges the cost of one of its key raw mas
using commodity swaps. These swaps have been d#sthas qualifying for hedge accounting. At the ehtthe swap
arrangements the cumulative gain or loss will lndassified to the income statement. These commaeigps have
been recorded as a non-current asset in the bashees.

Environmental Compliance and RemediatiEnvironmental compliance costs include ongoing mheaiance,
monitoring and similar costs. Environmental cosesaccrued when environmental assessments or rehedidirts are
probable and the cost can be reasonably estinfateth. accruals are adjusted as further informateweldps or
circumstances change. Costs of future obligatioeasiscounted to their present values using thefgamy's weighted
average cost of capital.

Revenue RecognitioThe Company supplies products to customers fromaii®us manufacturing sites, and in some
instances from containers held on customer sitegga variety of standard shipping terms and ¢mrdi. In each cas
revenue is recognized when the transfer of lefal vhich is defined and generally accepted instia@dard terms and
conditions, arises between the Company and themst Provisions for sales discounts and rebategstomers are
based upon the terms of sales contracts and ayedegtin the same period as the related salesiedution from
revenue. The Company estimates the provision fessiiscounts and rebates based on the terms lofagaeement at
the time of shipping. The Company recognized th& tevenue from Octane Additive sales under thgylEtgreements
until April 2007. The 32% compensation which waglga Ethyl was recognized in cost of goods sokk Slote 9 for
the accounting in respect of sales and marketingeagents with Ethyl.

Components of Net Salesll amounts billed to customers relating to shigpand handling are classified as net
sales. Shipping and handling costs incurred byCii@pany are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of Cost of Goods Sdlaist of goods sold is comprised of raw materiatcosluding inbound freight,
duty and non-recoverable taxes, inbound handlirsgscassociated with the receipt of raw materiaskaging
materials, manufacturing costs including labor
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costs, maintenance and utility costs, plant andneeging overheads, warehousing and outbound stgpgosts and
handling costs. Inventory losses and provisionstaaatosts of customer claims are also recognizéiael cost of goods
line item. Until April 2007, cost of goods sold @lsicluded recognition of 32% compensation whicls waid to Ethyl
(see Note 9 for the accounting in respect of sahesmarketing agreements with Ethyl).

Components of Selling, General and AdministratixpdasesSelling expenses comprise the costs of the disdess
force and the sales management and customer sdepegtments required to support them. It also cmap
commission charges, the costs of sales conferemmkgade shows, the cost of advertising and prom®and the cost
of bad and doubtful debts. General and adminisgakpenses comprise the cost of support functrarisding
accounting, human resources, information technodogl/the cost of group functions including corpemaanagement,
finance, tax, treasury, investor relations andlldgpartments. Provision of management’s best estirof legal costs
for litigation in which the Company is involvednsade and reported in the administrative expengeitem.

Research and Development ExpenResearch, development and testing costs are expenfige income statement as
incurred.

Earnings Per ShareBasic earnings per share is based on the weightgdge number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share iietuthe effect of options that are dilutive andstautding during the
period.

Foreign CurrenciesThe Company’s policy is that exchange differengesray on the translation of the balance sheets
of entities that have functional currencies otlrantthe U.S. dollar are taken to a separate etgsrve, the cumulati
translation adjustment. In entities where the dd@ar is the functional currency no gains or I@sea translation occL

In these entities gains or losses on monetarysassiating to currencies other than the U.S. daltartaken to the
income statement. Gains or losses on foreign coyreranslations are included in other net incomg/éase) in the
income statement.

Share Based Compensation Plaibe Company accounts for employee stock optiongwiie fair value method.
Accordingly share-based compensation is measuri @gfrant date based on the fair value of theoaptiThe
Company uses the straight-line attribution metlwoetognize share-based compensation costs oveeiviee period
of the option.

Pension Plans and Other P-Employment Benefit3he Company recognizes the funded status of debeeéfit post-
retirement plans on the consolidated balance shastischanges in the funded status in comprehemsivene. The
measurement date of the plan’s funded status isaine as the Company’s fiscal year-end.

Income Taxe<The Company provides for income taxes by recoggideferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporaryrdiftes between the financial statement carryinguatsand the
relevant tax bases of the assets and liabilities.
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When appropriate, the Company evaluates the needvaluation allowance to reduce deferred taxtas$be
Company recognizes future tax benefits to the éxkext realization of such benefits is more likéign not. The effect
on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is rezed in the period that includes the enactmerd.datome tax
positions must meet a more likely than not recagmnitriteria to be recognized. The Company recaggaccrued
interest and penalties associated with uncertaipadaitions as part of income taxes in our constdid statements of
income.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢'FASB”) issued guidance for accounting for ertainty in
income taxes. Upon adoption as of January 1, 2087ncreased our existing reserves for uncertaipositions by
$3.1 million.

Note 3. Business Segment and Geographical Areata

Innospec divides its business into three distieghgents for both management and reporting purpésesd:Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuelcgpees and Active Chemicals businesses both tpénanarkets
where we actively seek growth opportunities altiesir end customers are very different. The Octsahditives
business is characterized by substantial declidergand.

In 2009 the Company had one significant customénenFuel Specialties business, Royal Dutch Shekhpd its
affiliates (“Shell”), who accounted for $76.1 milhi (13%) of net group sales. In 2008 and 2007l @lsebunted for
$84.6 million (13%) and $66.2 million (11%) of rggbup sales, respectively.
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The Company evaluates the performance of its setgnb@sed on operating income. The following tabkeyzes sales
and other financial information by the Company’sagable segments:

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Net sales

Fuel Specialtie $422.% $440.¢ $374.¢
Active Chemicals 130.2 138.: 133.¢
Octane Additive: 45.¢€ 61.2 94.C

$598.t $640.5 $602.4

Gross profit

Fuel Specialtie $147.2 $145.¢ $124.5

Active Chemicals 26.€ 12.t 24.¢

Octane Additive: 15.: 28.5 48.1
$189.¢ $186.< $197.4

Operating income

Fuel Specialtie $ 81.4 $ 80.C $ 63.€

Active Chemicals 8.8 (5.0 6.1

Octane Additive: (44.9) 1.2 19.¢

Pension charg (6.4 2.3 (4.€)

Corporate cost (13.9) (24.9) (22.0

Restructuring charg (2.8 (2.2) (3.0

Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (3.7 (12.1)

Profit on disposa — 0.4 —

Total operating incom $ 20.7 $ 43.€ $ 47.¢

Identifiable assets at year enc

Fuel Specialtie $247.€ $247.¢

Active Chemicals 103.Z 104.2

Octane Additive: 79.5 124.¢

Corporate 112.¢ 17.€

$543.1 $494.:

The Company includes within the corporate coses iiem the costs of:
* managing the Group as a company with securitigsdlisn the NASDAQ and registered with the S

» the President/CEQ’s office, group finance, groumhun resources, group legal counsel, legal feesnaedtor
relations;

* running the corporate offices in the U.S. and Ear

» the corporate development function since they daelate to the current trading activities of other busines
segments; an

» the corporate share of the information technoleaggounting and human resources departm
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Sales by geographic area are reported by sourceréwthe transaction originates) and by destingtidrere the final
sale to customers is made). Intercompany salgsrexed to recover cost plus an appropriate marksuprofit and are
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements

Identifiable assets are those directly associatdutive operations of the geographical area.

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographicaltion on the grounds that it would be impracticdbldo so.

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Net sales by sourct

United State: $217.C  $222.¢  $192:¢
United Kingdom 356.2 383.2 333.¢
Rest of Europt 84.¢ 115.€ 154.¢
Other 0.2 0.8 0.4
Sales between are (59.9) (82.0) (79.0

$598.- $640.- $602.4

Net sales by destinatior

United State: $222.( $236.€ $210.¢
United Kingdom 21.1 22.2 25.1
Rest of Europi 219t 240.t 205.1
Other 135.¢ 141.2 161.:

$598.t $640.- $602.4

Income before income taxe

United State: $524 $10C $221
United Kingdom (44.¢) 7.6 25.€
Rest of Europ: 12.¢ 4.t 13.c
Other 0.1 0.2 (1.3
Impairment of Octane Additives business good (2.2 (3.7 (12.1)

$ 18.C $ 18.€ $ 47.€

Long-lived assets at year en

United State: $17.2 $ 94
United Kingdom 47.€ 33.¢
Rest of Europ: 11.4 10.2

$ 76.5 $ 53.t

Identifiable assets at year enc

United State: $112.¢  $111.%
United Kingdom 225.¢ 183.¢
Rest of Europ: 58.2 50.4
Other 0.€ 0.€
Goodwill 146.( 148.2

$543.1 $494.:
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Note 4. Share Based Compensation Plans

The Company has five stock option plans, four ofclwtexpired by their respective terms in May 200&ha end of
their 10 year life. The Company submitted new planstockholder approval to replace those thatredpand
requested approval to reserve common stock foarsmiunder each of those plans. Two of these plavide for the
grant of stock options to key employees and oneiges for the grant of stock options to non-empéogeectors. The
fourth plan is a savings plan which provides fa ¢jnant of stock options to all Company employegesided they
commit to make regular savings over a pre-defireribd which can then be used to purchase commak sfaon
vesting of the options. Under the new plans vegtiegods range from 27 months to 6 years and ioaslés stock
options granted expire within 10 years of the aditgrant. All grants are at the sole discretiohaf Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. Grants mayheed at market value or at a premium or discotine fifth plan
provides for the grant of stock options to key exies on a matching basis provided they use agotiop of their
annual bonus to purchase common stock in the Coynpathe open market. All four of the plans subedttor
stockholder approval were approved at the Compahyiaial Meeting of Stockholders on May 6, 2008. &ggregate
number of shares of common stock reserved for m=uevhich can be granted under all five plans79@,000.

Under the rules of the plans which expired in MA@& no further stock options will be granted aneawarded shares
of common stock previously allocated to these ptamsot be used for further grants. Stock optioastgd under the
plans prior to the expiration date of the plan expiithin 10 years of the date of grant.

The fair value of these options is calculated usimgBlack-Scholes model. In some cases certafonpeance related
options are dependent upon external factors sutteaSompany’s share price. The fair value of tlogs@ns is
calculated using a Monte Carlo model.

The following assumptions were used to determieddir value of options calculated using the Bl&wdtioles model:

2009 2008 2007
Dividend yield 2.5% 0.5% 0.2%
Expected life 5 year 4 year: 4 year:
Volatility 76.5% 50.1% 48.5%
Risk free interest rai 1.24% 2.7% 4.47%
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The following table summarizes the transactionthefCompany’s stock option plans for the year erdecember 31,

2009:

Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average Fair
Exercise Price
Shares Value
Options outstanding at January 1, 2l 983,58: $ 3.47
Granted - at discoun 415,64( $ — $ 8.0¢
— at market valu 90,00( $ 4.07 $ 2.4
— at premiurr 82,21" $ 4.62 $ 1.65
Exercisec (60,659) $ 3.27
Cancelled for paymel (400 $ —
Forfeitures (313,25() $ 2.9t
Expired (37,25() $ 6.64
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,159,88! $ 2.4F
The following table summarizes information abouti@ps outstanding at December 31, 2009:
Number
Exercisable Weighted
Number Weighted Weighted and Fully Average Weighted
OUtStandlng at Average Vested at Remaining
Remaining Average December 31 Average
Range of Exercise December 31, Life in Years Exercise Life in Exercise
Price 2009 Price 2009 Years Price
$0- $5 1,017,32! 7.4¢€ $ 0.6¢ 40,51« 2.8¢ $ 1.4
$5- $10 76,50¢ 4.7¢ $ 9.11 76,50¢ 4.7t $ 9.11
$10- $15 1,30(¢ 4.3¢€ $ 11.5C 1,30(¢ 4.3¢€ $ 11.5(
$20- $25 45,11: 8.1% $ 20.31 — — $ —
$25- $30 19,64 7.1% $ 27.0¢ — — $ —
1,159,88! 118,32(

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stopkions is $0.3 million. Of the 118,320 stock ops that are
exercisable, 20,780 have performance conditiorsla¢d. The total compensation cost for 2009, 2008807 was
$1.5 million, $4.1 million and $3.3 million, resgieely. In 2009, this charge includes a gain of43aillion related to
the gain on stock options forfeited upon resigmatbthe Company’s former CEO. The total compepsatost related
to nonvested stock options not yet recognized aeber 31, 2009 is $3.7 million and this cost igemted to be
recognized over the weighted-average period of gehds.

On February 13, 2009, we extended the vesting ¢pé0i0132,470 grants made under a key employe®peaince

related stock option plan from February 13, 200Babruary 13, 2011, and modified the performantterda to reflect
the longer vesting period. Additional compensatost of $0.2 million is required to be recognizedthese modified
stock options in the period February 13, 2009 tor&ary 13, 2011. No stock options awards were nextlih 2008 or

2007.

68



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 609, 2008 and 2007 was $0.4 million, $1.3 milliowd &21.9 million,
respectively. The amount of cash received fromettercise of stock option awards in 2009, 2008 @a¥ 2vas $0.2
million, $1.9 million and $4.1 million, respectiyelThe Company’s policy is to issue shares frona$uey stock to
holders of stock options who exercise those optibusing 2009, 2008 and 2007 the new total faiueadf shares
vested was $1.1 million, $1.2 million and $2.2 roifl, respectively.

The total options vested in 2009 were 176,848 (20084,588, 2007 — 328,660).

An additional long term incentive plan is in pldoaeward selected executives for delivering exoepl performance.
Under this plan a discretionary bonus will be pdgab eligible executives if the Innospec shardgrarance out-
performs that of competitors, as measured by tres&u2000 Index, by a minimum of 10% over the frears from
January 2008 to December 2012. The amount of bahich can be earned will be a set cash amountgoin ene
percentage point of out-performance. The maximunubainder this plan will be payable for an out-perfance
versus the Russell 2000 Index of 30%. The maximanub under this plan, in respect of the currenig@pants, is $8
million (2008 — $12 million). No bonus is payableder this plan if the Innospec share price doe®utperform the
Russell 2000 Index by more than 10% over the fe@ryperiod, or the Russell 2000 Index falls in eabwer the same
period. The fair value of these liability cash-egttstock appreciation rights is calculated on artguly basis using a
Monte Carlo model. A compensation charge of $0lianj and a liability of $0.2 million, was recogm@d in 2009
(2008 — $0.1 million compensation charge and $0ltom liability).

The following assumptions were used in the Montdddaodel:

200¢ 200€ 2007
Dividend yield 1.C% 1.7% 0.2%
Volatility 82.2% 80.2% 48.9%
Risk free interest rai 1.65% 1.0(% 4.47%
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Note 5. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Innopec Inc.

Basic earnings per share is based on the weightsdge number of common shares outstanding dunmgériod.
Diluted earnings per share includes the effectptibos that are dilutive and outstanding duringgkdod. Per share
amounts are computed as follows:

2009 2008 2007

Numerator (in millions):

Net income attributable to Innospec | $ 64 $ 12t $ 29.
Denominator (in thousands):

Weighted average common shares outstar 23,64 23,59¢ 23,92(

Dilutive effect of stock options and awal 1,072 79¢€ 91¢

Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 24,71« 24,39 24,83¢
Net income per share, basic

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. commogldiolders $ 0.27 $ 0.5: $ 1.2t
Net income per share, diluted

Net income attributable to Innospec Inc. commogldiolders $ 0.2€ $ 0.51 $ 1.1¢

In 2009, 2008 and 2007 the average number of @atisé options excluded from the calculation olutied earnings
per share were 146,325, 98,880 and 17,729, resphcti

Note 6. Pension Plans

The Company’s principal pension arrangement israributory defined benefit pension plan (the “Plaodvering a
number of its current and former employees in théddl Kingdom, although it does also have othermsroaller
pension arrangements in the U.S. and overseas?[@hds closed to new entrants without trusteerdism. The
Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBQ”) is based omdli salary and years of credited service reducesbbial security
benefits according to a plan formula. Normal retiemt age is 65 but provisions are made for eatigereent. The
Plan’s assets are invested by two investment mamaggcompanies in funds holding United Kingdom ewdrseas
equities, United Kingdom and overseas fixed intesesurities, index linked securities, propertyt tinists and cash or
cash equivalents. The trustees’ investment poficg seek to achieve specified objectives thronghsting in a
suitable mixture of real and monetary assets. fustdes recognize that the returns on real asgleile, expected to be
greater over the long term than those on monetsgts, are likely to be more volatile. A mixtureass asset classes
should nevertheless provide the level of returgsired by the Plan to meet its liabilities at anegatable level of risk
for the trustees and an acceptable level of casteg@Company.
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A full triennial actuarial valuation of the Plan svperformed as at December 31, 2008 and an upddteped as at
December 31, 2009, the results of which are redtbat these consolidated financial statements.

The Company is contributing amounts to the Placotcer service costs to date. Employee and employ@ributions
from January 1, 2007 were at 7% and 29%, respédgtioEpensionable pay. In addition, since Marclo20he
Company has been contributing £1.5 million ($2.4iom) per calendar year in accordance with a 18r gkeficit
recovery plan. From January 1, 2008, employee argayer contributions remained at 7% and 29%, aitjino
employee contributions were paid by the employesugh a salary sacrifice arrangement. The Compasyahnounce
closure of the Plan to future service accrual wifiect from March 31, 2010 and accordingly we apéte a curtailmel
charge of approximately $10 million will be recoged in 2010. The Company is in negotiations withttiustees to
fund the Plan deficit over a number of years, lhutently expects its annual cash contribution fot@to increase to
approximately $20 million.

12 months tc 12 months tc 12 months tc
December 3: December 3. December 3.
(in millions ) 2009 2008 2007
Plan net pension charg:
Service cos $ 3.7 $ 5.3 $ 5.4
Interest cost on PB: 38.€ 45.7 45.7
Expected return on plan ass (36.2) (48.7) (48.5)
Amortization of net actuarial loss — — 2.0
$ 6.4 $ 2.2 $ 4.€
Plan assumptions
Discount rate 5.6(% 6.5(% 5.8(%
Rate of increase in compensation le\ 3.6(% 3.75% 3.95%
Rate of return on plan ass~ overall 5.7%% 6.2(% 5.45%
Rate of return on plan ass~ equity securitie: 7.2(% 7.8(% 7.5(%
Rate of return on plan ass~ debt securitie 5.8(% 5.1(% 4.6(%
Plan asset allocation by categot
Equity securitiet 26% 22% 2%
Debt securitie: 74% 76% 71%
Other — 2% —
10C% 10C% 100%

The discount rate used represents the annualieéti g medium and longer term AA rated corporatedsan the
United Kingdom and has been determined by referemtiee iBoxx corporate bond index published bytnational
Index Company. The rate of increase in compensétigels assumes that real salary growth in Innogpkbe the
same as an assumed level of price inflation of 3A%.25% change in either the discount rate
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assumption, or level of price inflation assumptimould change the PBO by approximately $26 milko the net
pension charge for 2010 by approximately $1.8 onilli

The current investment strategy of the Plan idaimio an asset allocation of 70% in favor of defaisities and 30%
equity securities in order to achieve a more ptaflie return on assets.

The projected net pension charge for the year gndecember 31, 2010 is as follows:

(in millions)

Service cos $ 4.2
Interest cost on PB 43.4
Expected return on plan ass (37.€)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 5.5

$15.5

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service as appropriate, are expectée tnade:
(in millions)

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 $ 47.¢
2015-2019 $265.(

Company contributions to defined contribution sceerduring 2009 were $2.5 million (2008 — $2.8 roii).
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Movements in PBO and fair value of Plan assetaaifellows:

12 months tc

December 3.
(in millions) 2009
Change in PBC(
Opening balanc $ 571z
Interest cos 38.€
Service cos 3.7
Benefits paic (38.9)
Actuarial losses/(gain: 145.]
Exchange effec 76.C
Closing balanc: 796.(
Fair value of plan asse
Opening balanc 557.¢
Actual benefits pait (38.9)
Actual contributions by employt 7.1
Actual return on asse 75.€
Exchange effec 70.2
Closing balanc: 671.¢
Plan assets deficit over PE (124.7)
Unrecognized net los 249.]
Amortization of net actuarial loss —
Amount recognized in other comprehensive (249.))
Pension liability $ (1249

12 months tc
December 3:

2008

$ 854
45.7

5.3

(46.1)
(66.5)
(221.7)

571.2

889.1
(46.1)
7.5
(74.0)
(219.))

557.¢

(13.9)
124.7

(1249
$  (13.9

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan ®&81.2 million and $555.9 million at December 2209 and 2008,

respectively.
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For the vast majority of assets, a market apprasmadopted to assess the fair value of the asgihsthe inputs being
the quoted market prices for the actual securitedd in the relevant fund. For assets in whichéhgmo ready market
and for which no indicative dealer prices are aldd, fund assets are independently evaluated théthise of agreed
upon procedures conducted by an audit firm to pil®udependent confirmation that proper valuaticctedures are

being followed. As of December 31, 2009, the falues of pension assets by level of input wer@beis:

Quoted
prices In
active
markets Significant
for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
(in millions) (level 1) (level 2) (level 3) Total
Fixed income securitie
Debt securities issued by U.S. government and
government agencie $ — $ 1.2 $ — $ 1.2
Debt securities issued by non-U.S. governments a
government agencie — 253.2 34 256.¢
Corporate debt securitit — 266.: — 266.°
Residential mortga¢-backed securitie — 0.8 — 0.&
Commercial mortgac-backed securitie — 0.2 — 0.2
Agency securitized produc — 0.2 — 0.z
Other ass«-backed securitie — 2.7 — 2.7
Equity securitiet
Equity securities held for proprietary investment
purpose: 7.4 89.2 — 96.7
Real estat — 27.5 — 27.%
Other asset — — 18.C 18.C
Total assets at fair valt 7.4 641.£ 21.4 670.2
Cash 1.€ — — 1.€
Total plan asset $ 9.C $ 641. $ 21.4 $671.¢
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As of December 31, 2009, the reconciliation offdievalue of pension plan assets using significardbservable
inputs (level 3) were as follows:

Debt securities
issued by non-
U.S. governmen

and governmen Other
(in millions) agencies asset: Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $ 2.7 $20.¢ $23.€
Realized/unrealized gains/(losse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting « — (3.1 (3.2)
Transfers in/(out) of level 0.2 (2.0) (1.7)
Exchange effec 0.4 2.2 2.€
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 3.4 $18.C $21.4

Approximately 70% of the Plan’s assets are heiddex-tracking funds with one investment managensentpany.
Approximately 35% of the Plan’s assets are investédhited Kingdom government gilts. No more th&a b6f the
Plan’s assets are invested in any one individuadpamy’s investment funds.

Note 7. Income Taxes

The Company has adopted a recognition thresholdreasurement attribute for the financial statereedgnition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expectée taken in a tax return.
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A roll-forward of unrecognized tax benefits andaxsated accrued interest and penalties is as fetlow

Interest and Unrecognizec

(in millions) penalties tax benefits Total

Opening balance at January 1, 2 $ 2.3 $ 33.4 $35.7
Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc — 1.5 1.5
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 1.4 ¢ 24
Exchange effec 0.1 1.7 1.8
Settlement: — (1.4) (1.4
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 3.8 36.2 40.C
Current (1.7) (20.9) (12.€)
Non-current $ 2.1 $ 25.2 $27.4
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 3.8 $ 36.2 $40.C
Additions related to tax positions taken in therent perioc — 2.2 2.2
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.7 11.¢€ 12.c
Reductions for tax positions of prior peric — (9.5 (9.5
Exchange effec (0.5) (5.7 (6.2)
Settlement: (0.5 (3.5 (4.0
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 315 31.c 34.¢
Current (1.7 (7.5) (9.9
Non-current $ 1.8 $ 23.€ $25.€
Opening balance at January 1, 2! $ 3.5 $ 31.z $ 34.¢
Additions related to tax positions taken in thereat perioc 2.5 6.S 9.4
Additions for tax positions of prior perio 0.4 — 0.4
Exchange effec 0.2 1.2 1.4
Settlement: (2.9 (23.9) (26.€)
Closing balance at December 31, 2! 3.8 15.€ 19.4
Current (1.0 (4.0 (5.0
Non-current $ 2.8 $ 11.€ $14.4

All of the $19.4 million of unrecognized tax bengfivould impact our effective tax rate if recoguize

As previously disclosed the Company has been milddtdiscussions with the United Kingdom tax auties
(“HMRC”) with a view to resolving a number of hisio United Kingdom tax issues. Indicative agreemeas reached
with HMRC in late December
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2009, and on January 11, 2010, Innospec Limitadnjted Kingdom subsidiary of the Company) and HM&@ered
into an agreement settling certain tax positiohe (Agreement”).

The Agreement provided for the payment of £3.9iamil($6.3 million) which was paid on January 211@@&nd
accounts for the settlement of a large proportioth@ Company’s unrecognized tax benefit positidme Agreement
finalizes all but one outstanding United Kingdorsuis between the Company and HMRC, which is thesstibf on-
going discussions.

The Company is continuing to assess the possibklen@lications arising from the anticipated sett&rof the United
Nations QOil for Food Progran‘OFFP”) and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices BGECPA”) investigations and is in
discussion with HMRC as to the United Kingdom tasplications. The eventual outcome of these mattedsany
relevant tax implications, along with the outstargdUnited Kingdom issue mentioned above, is inhiremcertain
and the outcome may have a favorable or adverserimampact on the Company’s results of operatidéinancial
position and cash flows.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files incdaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, aragious state and
foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2009, @mmpany'’s subsidiaries in France and Germany barmeluded
their respective tax authority investigations ititeir respective transfer pricing policies for pra@counting periods
without material adjustment.

The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries remain opexamination by the IRS for years 1998 onwardstduke net
operating losses in the period 1998 to 2002, aijhow examination is currently underway. The Comgfsgan
subsidiaries in other major tax jurisdictions apeim to examination including France (2007 onwar@gymany (2005
onwards), Switzerland (2007 onwards) and the Uriegdom (2002 onwards).

The sources of income before income taxes werellasvs:

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
Domestic (U.S. $ 8.3 $10.C $22.2
Foreign 10.C 8.¢ 25.€

$18.2 $18.¢ $47.¢
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The components of income tax charges are summaaizéallows:

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007

Current:

Federa $ 2.C $5.€ $16.€

Foreign 10.4 1.4 7.7
$12.4 $7.C $24.€

Deferred:

Federa $ 0.2 $4.E $(6.4)

Foreign (0.9 (5.2 —

(0.5) (0.7) (6.4

$11.€ $6.23 $18.2

Cash payments for income taxes were $8.6 milli@d.& million and $22.7 million during 2009, 200812007,
respectively.

The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory rate because of the factors indicatéolbe

2009 2008 2007
Statutory rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Foreign income inclusio 23.C 47.€ 5.€
Impairment of Octane Additives business good 4.3 7.1 8.¢
Foreign tax credi (18.¢) (21.9) (73.9)
Pension charg (8.0 (18.2) (2.0
Foreign tax rate differenti (18.9) (15.2) (4.€)
Unrecognized net operating los: (10.5) (10.0 (2.2)
Permanent tax adjustmet 5.8 (8.9 9.8
Amortization (0.2 (4.2 —
Tax charge/(credit) from previous ye: 65.1 22.C (14.¢)
Net credit from unrecognized tax bene (92.]) — —
OFFP/FCPA investigations accrt 76.7 — —
Dividend inclusior — — 80.C
Other items and adjustments (r 3.t (0.9 (4.9

65.(% 33.5% 38.2%

Significant factors affecting the variation to staty rate are set out above and include the usaxdbsses for which 1
deferred tax asset was previously recognized amdlgio income inclusions net of foreign tax credlisere was a
favorable impact arising from a reduction in the@any’s unrecognized tax benefits position partially efffisy the ta:
charges from
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prior years following the settlement of varioustbigc United Kingdom tax issues. The $40.2 milleccrual for
anticipated settlement of the OFFP and FCPA ingastins and the $3.7 million charge in respechefitmpairment of
Octane Additives business goodwill have no cagtaxation impact and hence represent significaribfadn the
variation from the U.S. federal statutory rate. Ti& of taxable profits generated in the differgebgraphical localitie
in which the Group operates had a positive impadhe effective tax rate in 2009.

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilitiesamdollows:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Deferred tax assets
Excess of tax over book basis in property, plaoit@juipmen $ 24 $ 28
Net operating loss carry forwar 2.0 2.€
Pension liability 35.C 4.1
Stock options 2.8 1.€
Foreign tax credit 4.4 54
Other 6.2 8.4
52.¢ 25.C
Valuation allowanct (4.4 (7.3
Total deferred tax asse 48.4 17.7

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assei (4.9 (5.2
Other (3.2) (2.9
Goodwill amortizatior (4.0 (3.4

(11.5) (20.5)
Total net deferred ass $ 36.€ $ 7.2

Details of the deferred tax asset valuation alloveaare as follows:

(in millions) 2009 2008 2007
At January 1 $(7.3  $8.8) $1.0
Change in foreign tax credi 1.C 1.1 (6.5)
Change in net operating loss carry forwe 1.€ 0.4 (1.9
At December 3. $4.49) $7.9) $(8.9

As a result of the Company’s assessment of itslefetrred tax assets at December 31, 2009, the Gongoasiders it
more likely than not that no valuation allowanceggquired for $2.0 million (2008 — $0.7 million) t$ net operating
loss carry forwards and that a full valuation aldlmee is required against its foreign tax creditycaorwards. The net
operating loss carry forwards arose in Germanyrior periods as a result of trading losses. lixigeeted that sufficient
taxable profits will be generated against whictséheet operating loss carry forwards can be ralievel there is no
time limitation to use these losses. Should it be
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determined in the future that it is no longer midkely than not that these assets will be realizadadditional valuation
allowance would be required, and the Company’saipey results would be adversely affected durirgggariod in
which such a determination would be made.

The Company has not made provision for deferredtaxnremitted earnings from overseas subsidiangde grounds
that they will not be remitted as they are requirethe entities concerned or will continue to Isedito fund further
investment into other territories. The amount afemnitted earnings at December 31, 2009 and 200&p@®ximately
$616 million and $691 million, respectively. Anytdemination of the potential amount of unrecognideterred taxes
is not practicable due to the complexities assediatith the hypothetical calculation.

80



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Con tinued)

Note 8. Goodwill

Goodwill comprises the following:

(in millions)

At January 1, 200

Gross cos

Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill
impairment losse

Exchange effec
Impairment of Octane Additives business good

At December 31, 200

Gross cos
Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwill
impairment losse

Accumulated amortization — at January 1 and
December 31, 20C

Net book amour— at December 31, 20(

At January 1, 200

Gross cos

Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwiill
impairment losse

Exchange effec
Impairment of Octane Additives business good

Gross cos— at December 31, 20(

Gross cos
Accumulated Octane Additives business goodwiill
impairment losse

Accumulated amortizatio— at January 1, 20C
Exchange effec

Accumulated amortizatio— at December 31, 20(

Net book amour— at December 31, 20(

Fuel
Specialtie:

$ 1175

117.c
0.1

117.¢
117.¢
117.¢

(8.9)
$ 109.1

$ 117.¢

117.¢
0.4

117.¢
117.¢

117.¢

(8.9)
0.9

(8.7)
$ 109.1

Active
Chemicals

$ 30.4

30.4

30.4
30.4

30.4

0.3)
$ 301

$ 304
30.4

30.4
30.4

30.4
0.3)

0.3)
$ 301

Octane
Additives
Total

$ 526.] $673.¢
(223.9) (223.9)
302.2 449 ¢
— 0.1
(3.7) (3.7)
298.k 446.:
526.1 673.¢
(227.6) (227.6)
298.k 446.:
(289.5) (298.))
$ 9cC $ 148.2
$ 526.] $673.C
(227.6) (227.6)
298.t 446.:
— 0.4
(2.2) (2.2)
296.< 444
526.1 674.:
(229.9) (229.9)
296.: 444~
(289.5) (298.))
— (0.9
(289.5) (298.5)
$ 6.€ $ 146.C
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The Company’s reporting units are generally coastsiith the operating segments underlying the segsndentified
in Note 3.

The Company reviews goodwill annually for impairrjer between years if events occur or circumstsuwctange
which suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

Innospec divides its business into three distieghgents for both management and reporting purpéses:Specialties,
Active Chemicals and Octane Additives. All of trengponents in each segment (including products, etsudknd
competitors) have similar economic characteristiocd management makes key operating decisions basibe
performance of each segment. We therefore belletebusiness segment level is the appropriate tiagamit level fo
testing the impairment of goodwill.

To determine the fair value of each of our repgrtimits we utilize a discounted cash flow methodglbased on the
forecasted future after-tax cash flows from operedifor each since we believe this provides thé dggsroximation of
fair value. This methodology requires us to malsuagptions and estimates including those in resectture revenue
growth and gross margins, which are based upotoagrrange plans, and the Company’s weighted aeecagt of
capital. Our long range plans are regularly updatedart of our planning processes and are reviewdapproved by
management and our Board of Directors. We assumerial values for the Fuel Specialties and Activee@icals
reporting units which are added to the presentevafithe relevant forecasted future cash flows.ag&ime no terminal
value for the Octane Additives reporting unit beyais estimated future life. The discounted castviinethodology
does not assume a control premium. We use a discatgnequivalent to the Company’s weighted avecagt of
capital which is estimated by reference to the alvafter-tax rate of return required by equity alebt market
participants in the Company. We assign assetsialiities, including deferred income taxes anddeil, to our
reporting units if the asset or liability relatesthe operations of that reporting unit and isudeld in determining the
fair value of the reporting unit. Cash and debigailons are excluded from the carrying value af reporting units.

In 2009 some of the assumptions and estimates pinaé@rg our discounted cash flows have been revasgoiart of our
planning processes. The most significant revisias that the Company’s weighted average cost ofalapas
increased to reflect the changing proportion oftdelequity funding within the business.

The Company elected to perform its annual testespect of Fuel Specialties and Active Chemicatedgoll as at
December 31 each year. At December 31, 2009 w&b@@.1 million and $30.1 million of goodwill relatj to our Fue
Specialties and Active Chemicals businesses, raspBc At this date we performed annual impairmentiews and
concluded that there has been no impairment of\giblad respect of those reporting segments.

In light of the continuing decline in the Octanedid/es market globally, as the Company makes s#i€xctane
Additives in each quarter, the remaining sales@mesponding cash
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flows that can be derived from the Octane Additibasiness are reduced, and accordingly the faireval the Octane
Additives business segment is reduced. As a rdsIl€Company determined that quarterly impairmevieres be
performed from January 1, 2004 and any impairmeatge arising be recognized in the relevant quakiega result of
the Octane Additives impairment reviews performadrdy 2009, 2008 and 2007 impairment charges ¢ gllion,
$3.7 million and $12.1 million, respectively, haween recognized. These charges are non-cash ire rzatd have no
impact on taxation. There is $6.8 million of gootlwemaining at December 31, 2009 which relatethéoOctane
Additives business. Given the quantum and predidiabf the remaining future cash flows from thetane Additives
business the Company expects goodwill impairmeatggs to be recognized in the income statementon a
approximate straight-line basis to December 312201

The table below presents the impact a change ifotleeving significant assumptions would have hadour
impairment charge recognized at December 31, 2838ming all other assumptions and factors remaioestant:

Approximate increase/(decrease

(in millions) to impairment charge
Fuel Active Octane
Change Specialtie: Chemicals Additives
Weighted average cost of capi +1C% $ — $ — $ 1.C
Weighted average cost of capi -10% — — (2.0
After-tax cash flows +1C% — — (1.5
After-tax cash flows -10% — — 1.2

We believe that the assumptions used in our arangijuarterly impairment reviews are reasonabletha they are
judgmental, and variations in any of the assumpgtimay result in materially different calculatiorfarapairment
charges, if any.
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Note 9. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise the following:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Gross cos
— Ethyl $ 22.1 $ 22.1
— Veritel 60.€ 60.¢€
— Technology 7.1 7.1
— Customer relationshig 16.C 16.C
— Patents 2.6 2.6
— Other 0.2 0.2
108.¢ 109.C
Accumulated amortizatio
— Ethyl (11.0 (8.9
— Veritel (60.€) (60.€)
— Technology (3.9 (3.2
— Customer relationshig (8.2) (6.€)
— Patent: (1.9 (1.1
— Other (0.2 (0.9
(85.2) (80.7)
$ 23.7 $ 28.c

Ethyl

An intangible asset of $28.4 million was recognizethe second quarter of 2007 in respect of Hitndgoing their
entitlement effective April 1, 2007 to a sharelo# tuture income stream under the sales and magkagjreements
(“TMASs”) to market and sell tetra ethyl lead (“TEL"In 2008 contract provisions no longer deemeckssary of $6.3
million were offset against the intangible asséie TMAs covered the sale of TEL for use in automegasoline and
aviation gasoline which we disclose within our @etadditives business segment and our Fuel Spiesiddusiness
segment, respectively. We allocated the individamhponents of the intangible asset attributablE&Db for use in
automotive gasoline and aviation gasoline by refegeo the forecast future income streams and adsdaash flows
from those markets which Ethyl would have sharedNmresidual value was attributed to the intareyddset.
Accordingly, commencing April 1, 2007, the amoutitibuted to the Octane Additives business segmeastbeing
amortized straighline to December 31, 2010 and the amount attribtdede Fuel Specialties business segment is
amortized straight-line to December 31, 2017. Ei¥ecOctober 1, 2008 the Company extended its @sérfor the
future life of the Octane Additives business fromcBmber 31, 2010 to December 31, 2012 and therpfospectively
adjusted the amortization period for the amoumitatted to the Octane Additives business segmeamtarortization
charge of $2.1 million was recognized in 2009 (2608t.7 million).
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Veritel

An intangible asset of $60.6 million was recognize@001, and amortized straight-line to Decemider2807, in
relation to amounts payable to Veritel ChemicalstBMour Swiss subsidiary pursuant to a marketirgemgent
effective July 1, 2001. The asset was fully amedias at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2@08mrtization
charge was recognized in 2009 or 2008.

Technology

Following the acquisition of the remaining 50% phbspec Fuel Specialties LLC (previously known agOStarreon
LLC) on July 8, 2004, the Company recognized aarigible asset of $2.3 million in respect of variteshnological
approvals the business has received from certditargiand civilian authorities. The approvals asta barrier to entry
to any potential competitor in the market who wowidh to supply these products.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recogniredespect of a number of specialized manufactupigesses carri
out by Innospec Widnes Limited (previously knownA@asma Fine Chemicals Limited) following the acqtie of that
entity in August 2004.

Both of these assets have an expected life oféansyand are being amortized on a straight-lines loaer this period.
No residual value is anticipate

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtped an
intangible asset totaling $7.1 million, $4.2 mifliof which was in relation to customer lists acgdirThis asset has an
expected life of thirteen years and is being ammedion a straight-line basis over this period. &adual value is
anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in résddmth the Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (pregig known as
Octel Starreon LLC) ($9.0 million), and Innospecdiés Limited (previously known as Aroma Fine Chealsic
Limited) ($2.8 million) acquisitions. These reléateongoing customer relationships. These have padaed life of ten
years and are being amortized on a straight-liseslmver that period. No residual value is antitgga

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex (now mergetbilnnospec Active Chemicals LLC), the Company ggtped an
intangible asset of $2.9 million in respect of péteand trademarks. These have an expected limagfears and are
being amortized on a straight-line basis over peaiod.
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Other
The remaining balance relates chiefly to softwagt<which are amortized over 3 years.

Intangible asset amortization expense was $4.7omjl$7.4 million and $16.9 million in 2009, 200842007,
respectively.

Future amortization expense is estimated to be®dlion per annum for the three years to 2012.
Note 10. Deferred Finance Costs

On February 6, 2009, we entered into a new three{fyeance facility. This finance facility replacéte previous
finance facility which was in place at December 3108. The refinancing was treated as an extinguesi of the
previous debt facility. As a result, $0.5 milliohaeferred finance costs relating to the previaglity were written off
in 2009. In 2009, 2008 and 2007, $3.4 million, $®ilion and $nil million of refinancing costs wecapitalized,
respectively. These are amortized over the expdiféedf the relevant finance facility using thdegftive interest
method.

(in millions) 2009 2008
Gross cos $3.¢ $3.1
Accumulated amortizatio (2.0 (2.€)

Exchange effec — —

$1.¢ $0.5

Amortization expense was $2.0 million, $0.5 milliand $1.1 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respetyivThe charge
is included in interest expense (see Note 2).

Note 11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the fahg:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Land $ 7.2 $ 6.8
Buildings 5.2 5.C
Equipment 108.( 97.z
Work in progres: 4.3 4.1
124.¢ 113.2
Less accumulated depreciati (74.2) (59.7)
$ 50.€ $ 53.t

Of the total net book value of equipment at Decan3fie 2009 and 2008 no amounts are in respectsetabeld under
capital leases.
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Depreciation charges were $11.7 million, $15.1liorlland $13.3 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, resipely.
The estimated additional cost to complete workrogpess is $1.7 million (2008 — $1.4 million).
Note 12. Plant Closure Provisions

The principal sites giving rise to environmentahssliation liabilities are the former Octane Addsvmanufacturing
sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and BielieshreGermany, together with the Ellesmere Po#d Bitthe United
Kingdom, which is the last ongoing manufacturemBL. The liability for estimated closure costs nhbspec’s Octane
Additives manufacturing facilities includes costs personnel reductions (severance), decontammatid
environmental remediation activities (remediatiatmen demand for TEL diminishes. Severance provisi@ave also
been made in relation to Corporate personnel arabpeel in each of the three business segments.

Movements in the provisions are summarized asvi@io

Other
Severanci Restructuring Remediatior

(in millions) Total

Total at January 1, 20( $ 3.E& $ 0.2 $ 23.7 $27.¢
Charge for the perio 0.t 2.5 1.2 4.2
Expenditure (2.0 (2.2) 2.7 (5.9
Exchange effec 0.1 — 0.t 0.€
Total at December 31, 20! 2.4 0.€ 23.€ 26.¢
Due within one yea (1.9 (0.9 (2.2 (4.4
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 0L $ 0.2 $ 21.€ $22.4
Total at January 1, 20( $ 24 $ 0.€ $ 23.€ $26.€
Charge for the perio 0.€ 1.2 2.8 4.6
Expenditure (1.6 2.7 (1.6 (4.9
Exchange effec (0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total at December 31, 20! 1.€ 0.2 25.1 26.€
Due within one yea (1.5 — (2.6 4.1
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 01 $ 0.2 $ 22.F $22.¢
Total at January 1, 20( $ 1€ $ 0.2 $ 25.1 $26.¢€
Charge for the perio 1.€ 1.C 2.C 4.8
Expenditure (2.1 (0.2) (1.5 (3.9
Exchange effec — — 0.t 0.t
Total at December 31, 20! 1.2 1.C 26.1 28.4
Due within one yea (0.2 (2.0 (2.7 (3.9
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 11 $ — $ 23.4 $24.5
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Amounts due within one year refer to provisions rehexpenditure is expected to arise within one pééne balance
sheet date. Severance charges are recognizedinttme statement as restructuring costs along etitar
restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recegrniiz cost of goods sold.

Severance

A charge of $1.8 million was recognized in respgdhe separation agreement with the former CEQ3(#iillion), and
a reduction in EMEA ($0.3 million) and Americas ($0nillion) headcount.

Other restructuring

The $1.0 million charge relates to the relocatiba eales, administration and laboratory facilitygdison, New Jersey
to our manufacturing base in Spencer, North Caaq#0.5 million), the dissolution of a non-tradifageign subsidiary
($0.4 million) and United Kingdom site clearanc®.@million).

Remediation

Total costs for remediation are evaluated on alaedpasis to take account of expenditure incurredita amend the
scope of future activities in the light of findinfyfem projects carried out. A detailed review of #xpected future costs
of decontamination and remediation at the EllesrRem, United Kingdom site was concluded in Decen2@®4. The
results were summarized in a discounted cash flodahand the results are reflected herein.

Remediation expenditure against provisions was filllion, $1.6 million and $1.7 million in 2009, 28, and 2007,
respectively.

The remediation provision represents the fair valude Company’s liability. The accretion expeis2009 was $1.2
million. This charge was decreased in 2009 by #iiltlon in respect of a change in the Company’sghéed average
cost of capital ($1.0 million) and changes in scopfuture remediation activities ($0.1 million).

The Company records environmental liabilities wiiegy are probable and costs can be estimated raagoiihe
Company has to anticipate the program of work meguand the associated future costs, and has tplgawth
environmental legislation in the relevant countrilse Company views the costs of vacating our riited Kingdom
site as a contingent liability because there ipmsent intention to exit the site. The Companyfuebker determined
that, due to the uncertain product life of TEL,tmadarly in the market for aviation gas, therestgisuch uncertainty as
to the timing of such cash flows that it is not gibte to estimate these flows sufficiently reliabdyrecognize a
provision.
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Note 13. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Senior term loal $ 50.C $ 55.C
Revolving credi 1.C 18.C
51.C 73.C
Less current portio (20.0) (73.0
$41.C $ —

On February 6, 2009 we entered into a new threefyence facility which provides for borrowings kg of up to
$150 million including a term loan of $50 milliomé revolving credit facility of $100 million. Thevolving credit
facility can be drawn down until the finance fagilexpires on February 6, 2012. The term loanpayable as follows:
$10 million is due on February 5, 2010; $15 millam February 7, 2011; and $25 million on FebrugrG.2. This
finance facility replaced the previous finance liaciwhich was in place at December 31, 2008.

The Company'’s finance facility contains restrictolauses which may constrain our activities andtlouar operational
and financial flexibility. The new facility obligebe lenders to comply with a request for utiliaatof finance unless
there is an event of default outstanding. Eventeddult are defined in the finance facility andlude a material
adverse change to our business, properties, aBratsial condition or results of operations. Tieav facility contains
a number of restrictions that limit our ability, angst other things, and subject to certain limégdeptions, to incur
additional indebtedness, pledge our assets asityeguarantee obligations of third parties, makesstments, undergo
a merger or consolidation, dispose of assets, ¢emafly change our line of business.

In addition, the new facility also contains termisieh, if breached, would result in the loan becani@payable on
demand. It requires, among other matters, commianth two financial covenant ratios. These requeats are (1) the
ratio of net debt to EBITDA shall not be greatarit?.5:1 and (2) the ratio of EBITDA to net intér&isall not be less
than 4.0:1. EBITDA is a non U.S. GAAP measure giilility defined in the finance facility. Manageméwetieves that
the Company has not breached these covenants Hoouthe period to December 31, 2009, and expectsttbreach
these covenants for the next 12 months. The fintawkty is secured by a number of fixed and flogtcharges over
certain assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The weighted average rate of interest on borrowwas 4.4% at December 31, 2009 and 5.2% at DeceBdbh@008.
Payments of interest on long-term debt were $21omj $3.8 million and $6.4 million in 2009, 20@&d 2007,
respectively.
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The net cash outflow in respect of refinancing sogis $3.7 million, $0.4 million and $nil million 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

No assets held under capital leases were capidatizang 2009 or 2008. No capital repayments weaderduring 200
or 2008.

Note 14. Deferred Income

Deferred income consists of:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Deferred incomt $0.¢ $0.¢
Less: current portio (0.2 (0.2

$0.8 $0.8

Deferred income relates to $0.8 million of postwsigion government grants received by Innospeamiae@mbH and
$0.1 million of government grants and advance tgragments received by Innospec Widnes Limited\joresly
known as Aroma Fine Chemicals Limited).

Note 15. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Treasury Stock
(number of shares in thousands 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
At January 1 29,55¢ 29,55f 29,55f 5,95¢ 5,777  5,74¢
Exercise of option — — — (68) (354) (78¢€)
Stock purchase — — — 2 53¢ 814
At December 3: 29,55¢ 29,55f 29,55f 5,89( 595€¢ 5,77

At December 31, 2009, the Company had authorizetman stock of 40,000,000 shares (December 31, 2008
40,000,000). Issued shares at December 31, 2008,28¢554,500 (December 31, 2008 — 29,554,500y dmag
treasury stock of 5,890,447 shares (December 318 2(5,956,384).

Note 16. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be receivedeiban asset or paid to transfer a liability inaderly transaction
between market participants at the measuremen{eaterice). The Company utilizes a mid-markeating
convention for valuing the majority of its assetsl #iabilities measured and reported at fair valtlee Company utilize
market data or assumptions that market participaotdd use in pricing the asset or liability, inding assumptions
about risk and the risks inherent in the inputdh#ovaluation technique. These inputs can be neablidervable, market

corroborated or generally unobservable. The Compainyarily applies the market approach for recuifiair value
measurements and
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endeavors to utilize the best available informatisecordingly, the Company utilizes valuation tecjues that
maximize the use of observable inputs and minirtheeuse of unobservable inputs. The Company istalitassify
fair value balances based on the observabilitha$e inputs. The Company gives the highest pritoitynadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities (level 1 measurement) and the Isty@iority to
unobservable inputs (level 3 measurement). Finhasgets and liabilities are classified in theitirety based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurement. The Compangssessment of the significance
particular input to the fair value measurement regyudgment and may affect the valuation of vailue assets and
liabilities and their placement within the fair ualhierarchy levels.

The following table presents the carrying amourdt fair values of the Company’s financial instrunseat
December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
i Fair i Fair

Carrying Valle Carrying Valle
(in millions) Amount Amount
Assets
Non-derivatives:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 68.€ 3$68.€ $ 13.¢  $13.¢
Non-financial assets (level 3 measurement
Goodwill - Octane Additive: 6.8 6.€ 9.C 9.C
Derivatives (level 1 measurement)
Commaodity swap 1.€ 1.€ — —
Liabilities
Non-derivatives:
Long-term debt (including current portio $ 51.C $1C $ 73.C $73.C
Derivatives (all level 1 measurement)
Interest rate sway 04 0.4 0.7 0.7
Foreign exchange contrac 0.2 0.2 12.5 12.5
Commodity swap — — 1.3 1.2

The following methods and assumptions were usedtimate the fair values of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalentBhe carrying amount approximates fair value becatfisiee short-term maturities of such
instruments.

Long-term debtThe carrying amount of long-term debt drawn unterthree-year finance facility approximates fair
value based on the period of time to maturity.

Derivatives:The fair value of derivatives relating to interestie swaps, foreign exchange contracts and comynodit
swaps are derived from current settlement pricdscamparable contracts using current assumptions.
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For assets and liabilities measured at fair valua cecurring basis using level 3 inputs, the feilg reconciles the
opening and closing positions:

Goodwill — Octane

(in millions) Additives
Assets
Balance at January 1, 20 $ 9.C
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealiz
Included in earning (2.29)

Included in other comprehensive inco —

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 6.8

The cumulative gains and losses on the interestsiaaps and commodity swaps are summarized asviollo

(in millions) 2009 2008
Balance at January $(2.0) $(1.C)
Change in fair valu 3.2 (1.0
Balance at December : $1.2 $(2.0)

On June 12, 2009, the Company settled interessreds it had entered against $50.0 million of ulydey floating
rate debt obligations, and entered into $50.0 amlbf new interest rate swaps which will amortind anature between
February 2010 and February 2012. The new intea¢stswaps have been designated as a cash flow agdipest $50.0
million of underlying floating rate debt obligatisnthat stood at $51.0 million at December 31, 2608 qualify for
hedge accounting as at December 31, 2009.

The commodity swaps are used to manage the Congeagh flow exposure to raw material cost volgtillthey have
been designated as cash flow hedges and all themodity swaps qualify for hedge accounting as atdbduer 31,
2009.

The interest rate and commodity hedges were detedrib be effective and consequently the unrealizéal of $1.2
million in 2009 (2008 — $2.0 million loss) has beaenorded in other comprehensive income. Ineffeci@ss was
determined to be immaterial in 2009, 2008 and 281@¥ accordingly no gain or loss was recognizedmiags in these
periods. The Company expects a net unrealizedajait.1 million at December 31, 2009 to be recfasiinto
earnings in the next 12 months, and the remainig Million to be classified into earnings in tlkidwing 12 months.

Foreign exchange contracts primarily relate to @m$ entered into to hedge future known transastoy hedge
balance sheet net cash positions. The movemetits icarrying and fair values of these contraclarigely due to
changes in exchange rates against the U.S. dollar.
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Note 17. Derivative Instruments and Risk Manageent

The Company has limited involvement with derivatinstruments and does not trade them. The Compaey dse
derivatives to manage certain interest rate, forexghange exposures and raw material cost exgosure

The Company uses interest rate swaps, floors,rantid cap agreements to reduce the impact of ceangeterest rate
on its floating rate debt. The swap agreements@m&acts to exchange floating rate for fixed iag¢mpayments
periodically over the life of the agreements withthe exchange of the underlying notional amourit® notional
amounts are used to calculate interest to be paeceived and do not represent the amount of expds credit loss.

The Company has determined to hedge a proportitmeabutstanding floating rate debt obligation.aA®ecember 31,
2009 the Company had the following interest raggruments in effect (notional amounts in millions):

Notional Strike
(in millions) Amount Rate Expiry date
Interest rate swa $12.5 millior 1.443"% February 7, 201

$12.5 millior 1.450(% February 7, 201
$15.0 millior 1.825(% February 6, 201
$10.0 millior 1.870(% February 6, 201

The notional amount under the first two swaps alvedeces from $12.5 million to $7.5 million on Feéry 5, 2010.

The Company has hedged the cost of certain rawrialstevith commodity swaps. As at December 31, 2808 2008
the Company had the following summarized commosiitgps:

2009 2008
Carryin Fair Carryin Fair
ying Value ying Value
(in millions) Amount Amount
Notional quantity- 3,101 tonne: $ (1.9 $(1.3
Notional quantity- 1,350 tonne: $ 1€ $1€
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These derivative instruments have been classiBathah flow hedging relationships. Their effecte®nhas been tesi
and determined to be effective as at December@19 and December 31, 2008. The impact on the inctatement
for the last twelve months is summarized below:

Gain/(loss)

recognized ir Amount of gain/(loss

Location of gain/(loss) reclassified from

OCl on reclassified from accumulated OCI

(in millions) derivative accumulated OCI into income into income

Interest rate contrac $ 0.7 Interest income/(expens $ (0.9
Commodity contract 3.¢ Cost of goods sol (1.0
4.€ (1.4
Taxation 1.3 Income taxe: 0.4
$ 3.3 $ (1.0)

We enter into various foreign currency forward exafpe contracts to minimize currency exposure frapeeted future
cash flows. The contracts have maturity dates dbuf? months at the date of inception. These goreurrency
contracts have not been designated as hedgingnmsiits, and their impact on the income stateme20@® and 2008
is summarized below:

Amount of gain/(loss’ Amount of gain/(loss’
recognized in income recognized in income
for the twelve months for the twelve months
Location of gain/(loss) to December 31, 200 to December 31, 200
(in millions) recognized in income
Foreign exchange Other income
contracts (expense $ 12.C $ (12.7)

The Company sells a range of Fuel SpecialtiesyAdiihemicals and Octane Additives to major oilnefies and
chemical companies throughout the world. CredittBpongoing credit evaluation and account monii@procedures
are used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateralasgenerally required.
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Note 18. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has commitments under operating lgagearily for office space, motor vehicles and eas items of
computer and office equipment. The leases are ¢éxgé¢c be renewed and replaced in the normal cairsasiness.
Rental expense was $2.6 million in 2009, $2.2 onillin 2008 and $2.1 million in 2007. Future comnatrts under
non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

2010 $1.€
2011 1.2
2012 0.€
2013 0.€
2014 0.4
Thereaftel 1.€

$6.5

Commitments in respect of environmental remediatibiigations are disclosed in Note 12.

Contingencies
United Nations Oil for Food Program (“OFFP”) and U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) investigations

On February 7, 2006, the Securities and Exchangen@ssion (“SEC”) notified the Company that it hamronenced
an investigation to determine whether any violaiohlaw had occurred in connection with certaamgactions
conducted by or involving the Company, includinggé conducted by its wholly owned indirect Swidssadiary,
Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”), under the ©F between June 1, 1999 and December 31, 2003arfsfats
investigation, the SEC issued a subpoena requin@groduction of certain documents, including aoeants relating t
these transactions, by the Company and Alcor. Upoeipt of the SEC’s notification and initial sulepa, the
Company undertook a review of its participationhia OFFP.

On October 10, 2007 and November 1, 2007, the SE@d two additional subpoenas on the Company.erhes
additional subpoenas required the production oftidmmts relating both to the OFFP, and also to &@tiens conducte
by the Company or its subsidiaries with state ownrestate controlled entities between June 1, E@bthe date of
such subpoenas, concerning the use of foreign agexltthe possibility of extra-contractual payméatsecure
business with foreign governmental entities indbetext of the FCPA and other laws. In a coordithateestigation,
the Company was also notified by the U.S. Departroén
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Justice (“DOJ”) regarding the possibility of viatats by the Company or its subsidiaries arisingeuradher laws
stemming from matters covered by the SEC investigats well as certain preliminary inquiries regagdcompliance
with anti-trust laws applicable to the U.S. aneinational tetra ethyl lead markets. The subjedtswhich the SEC
and DOJ have inquired include areas that concetaiodormer and current executives of the Compamstuding our
former CEO, who resigned on March 20, 2009. The gamg, and its officers and directors are coopegatiith the
SEC and DOJ investigations.

On February 19, 2008, the Board of Directors of@oepany formed a committee comprised of the chairof the
Board, the Audit Committee and the Nominating amy&nance Committee, all of whom were independent
directors. (The chairman of the Nominating and Goaace Committee retired as a director of the Cowygdfective
May 6, 2008, but his services were retained imaependent capacity as a member of the committieQatober 1,
2009 when he resigned. Mr. Haubold did not resgya eesult of any dispute or disagreement wititbmpany or the
committee). External counsel to the Company, répptb the committee has, on behalf of the commjtt®nducted
and will continue to conduct an investigation itfie circumstances giving rise to the SEC and D@dstigations.
External counsel reports directly to the commitiad assists in connection with communications atetactions with
the SEC and DOJ.

On March 5, 2008, a letter was received by the Gomgrom the DOJ in which a request for a wider arade detailed
range of documents was made. A further letter wasived from the DOJ on June 13, 2009 which coathrequests
for information made by the U.S. Office of Forei§ssets Control (“OFAC”). In addition to the volungadisclosure
made in relation to the Bycosin disposal OFAC @uining into business the Company may have conduateountries
in respect of which there are U.S. laws and regulatthat restrict trade.

On July 31, 2009, the DOJ issued a press releaghiah it disclosed the arrest of an individual d@ne unsealing of an
August 7, 2008 indictment in the U.S. District Cioiar the District of Columbia against the indivaldor certain FCP,
violations relating to his alleged participationain eight-year conspiracy to defraud the OFFP aiwibe Iraqi
government officials on behalf of a publicly tradéds. chemical company in connection with the séla chemical
additive used in the refining of leaded fuel. Tindividual is the Company’s former agent for Iraglaertain other
markets and the Company understands the indicttoegtate to the matters that are the subject@faRFP and FCPA
investigations of the Company.

Separately, on May 21, 2008, the United Kingdongs@is Fraud Office (“SFQO”) notified Innospec Lieuk, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, that it had conteadran investigation into certain contracts invadvBritish
companies under the OFFP. As part of this investigathe SFO has asked the Company to producenuemts in
respect of the Comparg/participation in the OFFP between January 1, E®@bDecember 31, 2003. Following rect
of the SFOS$ notice the Company has instructed external legahsel to advise and assist in relation to thestigatior
and the Company and its directors and officers
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intend to cooperate with the SFO. On October 1682the Company was further notified that the saafgee SFO’s
investigation would extend to matters relating ébemtial bribery involving overseas commercial dgehat are already
in the large part the subject of the ongoing DQJ SRC investigations. This investigation by the SHidilarly

includes areas that concern certain former angkontiexecutives of the Company.

The Company and its officers and directors intendantinue to cooperate with the SEC, DOJ and SFO.

The outcome of these investigations remains unoaxdahe Company. Discussions with the SEC, DQI SIRO are
ongoing in an effort to resolve these investigagjoncluding discussions with a view to settlemdiie amount of any
final settlement, including the final amount of pable disgorgement, penalties and/or fines thatas be subject to,
has yet to be conclusively determined. The amotiahy disgorgements, penalties and/or fines tretbmpany could
face depends on a number of eventual factors wiaegk yet to be finally resolved with the relevaovgrnment
authorities, including findings by relevant autlies regarding the amount, nature and scope ofrapsoper payment:
the amount of any pecuniary gain involved, the Canys ability to pay, and the level of cooperatmnovided to
government authorities during the investigations.pfeviously disclosed, for accounting purposesgtan a potential
settlement range of $18.3 million to $63.4 millionconnection with the ongoing discussions with eyonment
authorities, we recorded in the third quarter d2@n $18.3 million accrual for potential globaitkeenent of these
investigations as required under U.S. GAAP. Inftweth quarter of 2009, we similarly recorded aditidnal accrual
of $21.9 million for anticipated global settlemefithis matter, bringing total accruals to $40.2lion, based on our
assessment for accounting purposes of the bestagstivithin an anticipated settlement range of &28@llion to $40.2
million. As these accruals are estimates, then®iassurance that final settlement amount willespond to the accru
amounts.

Because of the uncertainties associated with timaatle outcome of these investigations and thesdostihe Company
of responding and participating in them, no asstgaran be given that the ultimate costs incurretdsamctions that
may be imposed will not have a material adverseachpn the Company’s results of operations, firgnuosition and
cash flows.
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As part of the Company’s commitment to cooperatt@mply with the OFFP and FCPA investigations@oenpany
has accrued and spent the following amounts iretsyf estimated probable future legal and othefgsisional
expenses:

Provision
remaining
Accrued at year

(in millions) Spent end
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 1.2 $ (0.9 $ 04
Year ended December 31, 2C 4.€ 1.9 3.7
Year ended December 31, 2C 155 (15.9) 3.4
Year ended December 31, 2C 12.¢ (13.6) $ 2.7

$ 342  $(31.5

These accruals have been made on the basis obthpdDy’s current best estimate, working in consiolawith the
committee of the Board of Directors, external legrainsel to the Company and its other professiadailsors. Should
any underlying assumptions prove incorrect or sthanly of the DOJ, SEC and/or the SFO alter theesobhe
investigations, then the actual costs incurrechiey@ompany could differ materially from currentiesttes. The
Company continues to keep the amount of such ageraasions under review.

Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of th&€€uban Assets Control Regulations to the Office of éreign
Assets Control and other matters

Given the international scope of its operations,@lmmpany is subject to laws of many differentgdigtions, including
laws relating to the imposition of restrictionstoade and investment with various entities, perssscountries, some
of which laws are conflicting. In 2004 the Compaayiewed, as it does periodically, aspects of psrations in respect
of such restrictions, and determined to disposgeakin non-core, non-U.S. subsidiaries of Bycddi Bycosin's non-
U.S. subsidiaries had been engaged in transadiwhsctivities involving Cuban persons and entiie®re the
acquisition of the Bycosin Group by the Companyune 2001, and such subsidiaries were continuieggage in suc
transactions and activities at the time of the alsp of the non-core Fuel Specialties businesgelated assets in
November 2004. On November 15, 2004, Bycosin A®hally-owned subsidiary of the Company organized uncder th
laws of Sweden (now known as Innospec Sweden AB Skller”), entered into a Business and Asset lrase
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Pesdo Swedcap kiglsl AB (the “Purchaser”), Hakan Bystrom and otlesshe
Purchaser’s guarantors, and Octel Petroleum Sgiesiaimited (now known as Innospec Fuel Specialtienited) as
the Seller’s guarantor, and completed the all-¢emisaction contemplated thereby (together withteel transactions,
the “Transaction”). The Agreement provided for, aigst other things: (i) the disposal of certain one Fuel
Specialties business and related manufacturingtiret assets of the Seller; and (ii) the supply disttibution of
certain power products to certain geographic regidhe net consideration paid by the Purchasemappsoximately
$2.9 million.
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Following completion of the Transaction, the Comparade a voluntary disclosure to the U.S. Offic&ofeign Assel
Control (“OFAC”) regarding transactions and actestengaged in by certain non-U.S. subsidiarigkefCompany.
Disclosures, amongst other items, included thaatfggegate monetary value of the transactions wnvgIlCuban
persons and entities conducted by the Company’d.h8nsubsidiaries since January 1999 was appra&iyn$26.6
million.

At this time, however, management believes thabitld be speculative and potentially misleadingtha Company to
predict the specific nature or amount of penalties OFAC might eventually assess against it. Whdealties could be
assessed on different bases, if OFAC assessedipsragainst the Company on a “performance of ectgrbasis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, ia tiase of civil violations of the Cuban Assets @uriRegulations (31
CFR. Part 515) (“CACR?”), of the lesser of $65,0@0 piolation or the value of the contract. Sinceutay 1999, non-
U.S. subsidiaries of the Company have entereddiBtoontracts with Cuban entities, each of whichdde considered
a separate violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC rtale the position that the CACR should be integatetr
applied in a different manner, potentially evemp#omit the assessment of penalties equal to otegréaan the value of
the business conducted with Cuban persons oresatiti

The Company has considered the range of possilidemes and potential penalties payable. In accoslaith the
Company’s accounting policies, provision has beadefor management’s current best estimate ofdtenpal
liability, including anticipated legal costs. Hoveeyshould the underlying assumptions prove inctrtbe actual
outcome could differ materially from managementisrent expectations. Management is not able tonast the
amount of any additional loss, if any.

In addition to the voluntary disclosure made iratiein to the Bycosin disposal, and as referred thé Company’s
disclosure relating to the investigations intargolvement in the OFFP and FCPA matters, OFAQ@dgiiring into
business the Company may have conducted in cosimtrispect of which there are U.S. laws and egurs that
restrict trade. The Company and its officers amdators intend to continue to cooperate with OFAC.

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or ferjrwere found not to have complied with the CAGRother U.S.
laws or regulations that restrict trade with cert@ountries, the Company believes that it couldudgect to fines or
other civil or criminal penalties which could be tevzal.

Other Legal Matters

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this Form 10-Kargenot involved in any other administrative origial proceedings
arising under provisions enacted that regulateltbeharge of materials into the environment or &sthor the purpose
of protecting the
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environment involving a governmental authority gsagy, which involves potential monetary sanctiatsch the
Company reasonably believes will result in monetamyctions of more than $100,000.

We are involved from time to time in claims anddegroceedings that result from, and are incideiotathe conduct of
our business including business and commercighlitbn, employee and product liability claims. Téare no other
material pending legal proceedings to which the Gamy or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or bfcl any of their
property is subject, other than ordinary, routitigdtion incidental to their respective businesses

Whilst it is not possible to predict with certairttye outcome of any legal proceedings, it is ouniop based on our
current knowledge that we will not suffer any metleadverse effect on our results of operatiomsgricial position or
cash flows as a result of any actual or threatditigdtion.

Guarantees

The Company and certain of the Company’s cons@dalatibsidiaries are contingently liable for certabtigations of
affiliated companies primarily in the form of guataes of debt and performance under contractseshieto as a
normal business practice. This included guarardéasn-U.S. excise taxes and customs duties. Asaember 31,
2009, such contingent liabilities amounted to $7ilion.

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangementsranthe Company would be required to perform dtdie
affiliated company fail to fulfill its obligationsnder the arrangements. In some cases, the gua@mnéngements have
recourse provisions that would enable the Compamgdover any payments made under the terms gfuaantees
from securities held of the guaranteed partie®tass

The Company and its affiliates have numerous l@ngrtsales and purchase commitments in their vabassess
activities, which are expected to be fulfilled with adverse consequences material to the Company.

Indemnities and Warrantie:

In connection with the disposal of Octel Waste Mpamaent Limited on June 26, 2003, the Company peal/zkrtain
warranties. The Company would be required to perfsihould the contingent liabilities in respectlué tvarranties
become actual and could be required to make maxifotume payments of £3.59 million ($5.8 million)hdre are no
recourse provisions enabling recovery of any ansfrom third parties nor are any assets held datecdl in respect «
the warranties.
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Note 19. Profit on Disposal

200¢
(in millions) 2009 2007

Profit on disposal of surplus U.S. real es $— $0.4 $—
$— $0.4 $—

The profit on disposal of the surplus U.S. reahtestelates to the sale in May 2008 of the Comafoyimer
manufacturing site in EImwood Park, New Jersey.

Note 20. Other Balance Sheet Information
The Company holds no unconsolidated investments.
In 2007 the Company sold its 27.5% share of Pottdfmited for $0.1 million generating a profit $0.1 million.

All of the previously held unconsolidated affiliaterere privately held companies and as such quogllet prices
were not available. No dividends were receivedrap009, 2008 and 2007.

Note 21. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemis

In August 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate (ASU) No. 2009-08easuring Liabilities at Fair
Value(*“ASU 2009-05"). ASU 2009-05 provides additionalidance clarifying the measurement of liabilitie$aat
value. The Company adopted ASU 2009-05 for thetquanded December 31, 2009, and adoption did anct b
material impact on our consolidated financial stegats.

In June 2009, the FASB issued FAS 1#®& FASB Accounting Standards Codificat{t@odification™), which
launched on July 1, 2009, and is effective fortiicial statements for interim or annual reportingqus ending after
September 15, 2009. The Codification combinesudh@ritative standards into a comprehensive, tdigicaganized
online database. After the Codification launchyarie level of authoritative GAAP exists, otherrtlgauidance issued
by the SEC. All other accounting literature excldidieom the Codification will be considered non-auritative. The
Codification does not change or alter existing GAgfe accordingly there was no impact on our codategd financial
position or results of operations.

In May 2009, the FASB issued ASC 85%ubsequent Event&ASC 855 establishes general standards of accaufar
and disclosure of events that occur after the loalaheet date but before financial statementsaved. This statement
is effective for interim and annual periods endafigr June 15, 2009. The Company adopted ASC 85héoquarter
ended June 30, 2009, and adoption did not haveteriadampact on our consolidated financial statetae
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In December 2008, the FASB issued additional guidawhich resides under ASC 7I&mpensation — Retirement
Benefits, on an employer’s disclosures about plan asseidefined benefit pension or other postretirenpéan. This
guidance requires disclosure of investment alloocathethodologies and information that enables usfdiirancial
statements to assess the inputs and valuationitee®mused to develop fair value measurementsaof ggsets in order
to provide users with an understanding of signifta@ncentrations of risk in plan assets. The Com@alopted ASC
715 for the quarter ended December 31, 2009, aoptiath did not have a material impact on our codstéd financial
statements since it requires additional disclosuig.

Note 22. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events ap io@duding February 19, 2010, which is the dateftnancial
statements were issued, and has concluded thatditioaal disclosures are required in relation\ergs subsequent to
the balance sheet date.
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this regoetCompany carried out an evaluation under thersigion and with
the participation of our management, including@eef Executive Officer and the Chief Financial i0éfr, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the@my’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (dsdd in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities and Engh@ct of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”)).

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controts@rocedures, the Company’s Chief Executive Offesel Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that the Companysslosure controls and procedures were effectsvef
December 31, 2009.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estab§ and maintaining adequate internal controt éimancial
reporting. The Compang’internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exepurposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢t@isstatements. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effeetiess to future periods are subject to the rigkdratrols may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehesCompany’s internal control over financi@porting as of
December 31, 2009. In making this assessment, reameag used the criteria internal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrise Treadway Commission (“COSQO”).

Based on the evaluation the Company concludedhibafompany maintained effective internal contsardinancial
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on @&iterthelnternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the
COSO.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal cordkar financial reporting as of December 31, 2089 bheen audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independentteegtsaccounting firm, as stated in their reporiclis included
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporthg

The Company is continuously seeking to improvedtfieiency and effectiveness of its operations ahits internal
controls. This results in refinements to processemighout the Company. However, there has beahange in the
Company’s internal control over financial reportihgring the most recent fiscal quarter that hasnsdly affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Caang’s internal control over financial reporting.

Iltem 9B Other Information
None.
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PART llI
Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Information under the headings “Management” ancttifa 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compti@hset ou
in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting afcRholders to be held on May 12, 2010 (“the Protat&nent”) is
incorporated herein by reference.

At its Board Meeting on February 24, 2004, the Canypformally adopted a Code of Ethics. Any stockleolwho
requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporatee@mance Guidelines or any of the Board Committearters may
obtain one by writing to the General Counsel, Ip@asinc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil SitesdRdEllesmere
Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, e-mail investor@innospecom. These documents can also be accessed via the
Company’s website, www.innospecinc.com

Information regarding the composition and the wogki of the Audit Committee is included under thadiegs
“Corporate Governance — Committees of the Boarfdictors — Audit Committee” and “Audit Committe@port” in
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefgrence.

Item 11 Executive Compensatior

The information under the headings “Compensatigtission and Analysis”, “Compensation Committeedré@and
“Corporate Governance — Committees of the Boardictors — Compensation Committee Interlocks arsidier
Participation” in the Proxy Statement is incorpethherein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Relatec
Stockholder Matters

The information under the heading “Security Owngrsi Certain Beneficial Owners and Managementhia Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compatien Plans

The information contained in the table entitled tifg Compensation Plan Information” under the hagdEquity
Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement is pm@ted herein by reference.

The current limit for the total amount of sharedchitan be issued or awarded under the Compamgsstock option
plans is 1,790,000.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information under the headings “Transactiorth &ikecutives, Officers, Directors and Others”, fQarate
Governance” and “Certain Other Transactions andtieiships” in the Proxy Statement is incorpordteckin by
reference.
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Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Service

Information with respect to fees and services eelad the Company’s independent registered pubtownting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is contained in thetATmmmittee Report under the heading “Principat@uantant
Fees and Service#i the Proxy Statement and is incorporated hergireterence. Information with respect to the Al
Committee’s pre-approval policies and proceduresigained in the Audit Committee Report underitbading ‘Audit
Committee Pre-approval Policies and ProcedurettierProxy Statement and is incorporated hereirefarence.
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PART IV
Item 15

(@) (1)

2.1

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2

4.€
10.1

(@)

)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Innospecdnd its subsidiaries and related notes thereto
together with the report thereon of Pricewaterh@aspers LLP dated February 19, 2010, appear on
pages 53 through 102 of the 2009 Form 10-K to $tolclers, are incorporated in Item 8.

Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been ométede the information required to be submittec
been included in the financial statements or bex#usy are either not applicable or not required
under the Rules of Regulations S-X.

Exhibits

Transfer and Distribution Agreement, dated as afil&3, 1998, between Great Lakes Chemical
Corporation “GLCC") and the Registrant. (.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioin® Registrant. (1
Amended and Restated -laws of the Registrant. (.
Form of Common Stock Certificate. (

Form of Certificate of Designations, Rights andfémences of Series A Junior Participating PrefeBtxtk
of the Registrant. (2

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of AprilI398 among the Registrant, Octel Developments PLC
and the initial purchasers. (

Purchase Agreement dated as of April 30, 1998 artten¢nitial Purchasers, Octel Developments PLC anc
the Registrant. (4

Share purchase agreement between OBOAdIer Holdingted and The Associated Octel Company
Limited relating to the sale and purchase of thelelof the issued share capital of OBOAdler Company
Limited, dated June 1, 1999. (

Rights Agreement dated June 12, 2009.

Employment offer letter from The Associated Octehtpany Limited to Philip J Boon, (7) and Executive
Service Agreement dated June 1, 2009.
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10.z
10.c
10.4

10.t

10.€

10.7

10.€
10.€
10.1C
10.11
10.1z
10.1:

10.1¢
12.1
14
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

Contract of Employment, lan McRobbie. |
Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner.

Business and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Nevelip2004, between Bycosin AB, Hakan
Bystrom and others, and Octel Petroleum Specidlireged. (10)

Supply Agreement, dated November 15, 2004, betBgensin AB and Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB.
(10)

Contract of Employment, Paul W. Jennings, datede®elper 21, 2005, (12) and Separation Agreement
dated March 20, 2009. (1

Contract of Employment, Patrick Williams, dated abetr 11, 2005, (13) and Executive Service
Agreement dated April 2, 2009. (1

Contract of Employment, lan Cleminson, dated Juhe2806. (14
Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Option P0&8. (15
Innospec Inc. Company Share Option Plan 2008.

Innospec Inc. Non Employee Direct’ Stock Option Plan 2008. (1
Innospec Inc. Sharesave Plan 2008.

U.S. $150,000,000 three year Facilities AgreematediFebruary 6, 2009 with Lloyds TSB plc as agent
Company term loan facility of $50,000,000 and reira loan of $100,000,000. (1

Contract of Employment, David E. Williams, dateg®enber 17, 2009. (2:
Statement Regarding Computation of Financial Refitesl herewith).

The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethics.

Principal Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filedeweith).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking (filed herewith)
Powers of Attorney of Directors and Officers of fRegistrant. (4

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith
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32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursoant t
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith

Notes

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s almeant dated April 21, 1998, to a
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Fbori2B/A previously filed on
April 10, 1998.

3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s almesnt dated May 4, 1998 to a
previously filed Form 1-12B/A.

4) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s FSrhpreviously filed on
October 1, 199¢

(5)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on November 12, 199!
(6)  Filed with the Compar’s Form K on March 3, 200¢
(7)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1K on March 26, 2001
(8)  Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 28, 200z
(9)  Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 15, 20
(10) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on November 19, 200-
(11) Filed with the Compar’s Form 1-K on March 31, 200¢
(12) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on September 27, 200
(13) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on October 12, 200!
(14) Filed with the Compar’s Form K on June 30, 200t
(15) Filed with the Compar’s Proxy Statement on March 31, 20
(16) Filed with the Compar’s &K on February 10, 200!
(17) Filed with the Compar’s €-K on March 24, 200¢
(18) Filed with the Compar’s &K on April 3, 2009.
(19) Filed with the Compar’s ¢€-K on May 27, 2009
(20) Filed with the Compar’s &K on June 12, 200¢
(21) Filed with the Compar’s &K on September 14, 200
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf byutidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOSPEC INC. /s/ Patrick S. Williams
By:
(Registrant; PATRICK S. WILLIAMS
Date: President and Chief Executive Offic

February 19, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptie following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatgsaindicated as of February 19, 2010:

/s/ Robert E. Bew Chairman and Director

Dr Robert E. Bev

/s/ lan P. Cleminson Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

lan P. Cleminsol

/sl Mark A. Bracewell Group Financial Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Mark A. Bracewell

/s/ Hugh G. C. Aldous Director
Hugh Aldous

/sl Martin M. Hale Director
Martin M. Hale

/sl Robert I. Paller Director
Robert I. Palle

/s James M. C. Puckridge Director

James Puckridg

/s/ Joachim Roeser Director

Joachim Roese
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EXHIBIT 12.1—STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF FIN ANCIAL RATIOS

(dollar amounts in millions except per share figure)

1. NET INCOME/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INCAS
A PERCENT OF SALES

A Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec
B Net sales
A % of B
2. EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE AS A PERCENT
C Income taxe:
D Income/(loss) before income tax
C%ofLC
3. CURRENT RATIO
E Current assel
F Current liabilities
E % of |
4. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO INNOSPEC INC
G Net income/(loss) attributable to Innospec
H Basic shares outstandi
I Diluted shares outstandit
G/H Basic earnings per share attributable to
Innospec Inc
G/l Diluted earnings per share attributable to
Innospec Inc

2009

2008

2007

2006

Exhibit 12.1

2005

$ 64
$ 598.t
1.1%

$ 11.¢
$ 18.8
65.(%

$ 282.¢
$ 179.¢
1.6%

$ 64
23,64
24,714

$ 0.27

$ 0.2¢

$ 12t
$ 640.5
2.C%

$ 6.3
$ 18.¢
33.52%

$ 256.¢
$ 188.1
1.4%

$ 12t
23,59¢
24,39

$ 0.5¢

$ 0.51

Shares in thousands, earnings per share attrileutatbhnospec Inc. in dollars.

$ 29t
$ 602.
4.5%

$ 18.
$ 47.¢
38.1%

$ 256.1
$ 160.7
1.€%

$ 29t
23,92(
24,83¢

$ 1.2¢

$ 1.1¢

$ 114
$ 532.1
2.1%

$ 20.4
$ 31.¢
63.€%

$ 305.¢
$ 142.¢
2.1%

$ 114
24,141
25,33¢

$ 0.47

$ 0.4t

$(123.9)
$ 564.¢
(21.9%

$ 4.2
$(117.9
(3.6)%

$ 239.¢
$ 140.
1.7%

$(123.9)
24,73
24,73

$ (5.00)

$ (5.00)



EXHIBIT 21.1 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRA NT

Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (Switzerland)
Innospec Active Chemicals LLC (USA)
Innospec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Developments Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Environmental Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Finance Limited (U.K.)

Innospec France SA (France)

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC (USA)
Innospec Holdings Limited (U.K.)

Innospec International Limited (U.K.)
Innospec Leuna GmbH (Germany)
Innospec Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Trading Limited (U.K.)

Innospec Widnes Limited (U.K.)

OBOAdler Company Limited (U.K.)

Societa Italiana Additivi Per Carburanti S.r.la(if)

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B83B687/ 333-124139) of Innospec Inc.

of our report dated February 19, 2010 relatindhofinancial statements and the effectivenesstefrial control over financial reporting, which
appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Manchester, United Kingdom
February 19, 2010



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PATRICK S. WILLIAMS PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Patrick S. Williams, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officel

February 19, 201



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF IAN P. CLEMINSON PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, lan P.Cleminson, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Innospec Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%(d internal control over financial reportiag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

b) designed such internal control over financigloming, or caused such internal control over foiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséantlis report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢'s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theiteemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfwspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssehe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which au
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ant

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl 1aNP. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 19, 201



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2009 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”), |, Patrick S. Williams, Presideand Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135(dapted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp#2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafict of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl PATRICK S. WILLIAMS

Patrick S. Williams
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 19, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not beirefféks part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosionmisipon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fdrmospec Inc. (the “Companyfdr the period ended December 31, 2009 as filet thi¢
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehg@he “Report”), |, lan P. Cleminson, Executivéc¥ President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 I.S§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of thea®as-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exgkafict of 1934, an
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl 1aNP. CLEMINSON

lan P. Cleminson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

February 19, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not beirefféks part of this Report or as a separate
disclosure document.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey 18 U.S.C. §1350 has been provided to the Caynpad will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cogiomisipon reques



